

Modtaget via elektronisk post. Der tages forbehold for evt. fejl

Europaudvalget (Alm. del - bilag 88) Det Europæiske Råd (Offentligt)

Medlemmerne af Folketingets Europaudvalg

og deres stedfortrædere

1

×

Journalnummer Bilag 400.C.2-0

Kontor EU-sekr.

11. oktober 2002

Til underretning for Folketingets Europaudvalg vedlægges i forbindelse med Det Europæiske Råd i Bruxelles den 24.-25. oktober 2002 Kommissionens fremskridtsrapport for Bulgarien, KOM(2002) 700 endelig.

COMMISSION OF THE EUROPEAN COMMUNITIES

Brussels, 9.10.2002

SEC(2002) 1400

2002

REGULAR REPORT

ON

BULGARIA'S

PROGRESS TOWARDS ACCESSION

{COM(2002) 700 final}

2002

REGULAR REPORT

ON

Bulgaria's

PROGRESS TOWARDS ACCESSION

Table of contents

A. Introduction *****

a) Preface *

b) Relations between the European Union and Bulgaria *

Recent developments under the Europe Agreement, including bilateral trade *

Accession Partnership *

Action Plan for reinforcing administrative and judicial capacity *

National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis $\underline{*}$

Community Assistance *

Twinning *

Negotiations *

B. Criteria for membership *

1. Political criteria *

Introduction *

Recent developments $\underline{*}$

1.1. Democracy and the rule of law *

The parliament $\underline{*}$

The executive *

The judicial system *

Anti-corruption measures *

1.2. Human rights and the protection of minorities $\underline{*}$

Civil and political rights *

Economic, social and cultural rights *

Minority rights and the protection of minorities *

1.3. General evaluation *

2. Economic criteria *

2.1. Introduction *

2.2. Summary of economic developments since 1997 *

2.3. Assessment in terms of the Copenhagen criteria *

The existence of a functioning market economy *

The capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union *

2.4. General evaluation *

3. Ability to assume the obligations of membership *

Introduction $\underline{*}$

3.1. The chapters of the *acquis* *

Chapter 1: Free movement of goods *

Progress since the last Regular Report $\underline{*}$

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 2: Free movement of persons *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 3: Freedom to provide services *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

 $Overall \ assessment \ \underline{*}$

 $Conclusion \ \underline{*}$

Chapter 4: Free movement of capital *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 5: Company law *

Progress made since the last Regular Report $\underline{*}$

 $Overall\ assessment\ \underline{*}$

Conclusion *

Chapter 6: Competition policy *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion $\underline{*}$

Chapter 7: Agriculture *

Progress made since the last Regular Report $\underline{*}$

Overall assessment *

Conclusion $\underline{*}$

Chapter 8: Fisheries *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

 $Conclusion \ \underline{*}$

Chapter 9: Transport policy *

Progress made since the last Regular Report <u>*</u> Overall assessment <u>*</u>

Conclusion $\underline{*}$

Chapter 10: Taxation *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

 $Overall\ assessment\ \underline{*}$

Conclusion $\underline{*}$

Chapter 11: Economic and Monetary Union *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 12: Statistics *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 13: Social policy and employment *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 14: Energy *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 15: Industrial policy *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 16: Small and medium-sized enterprises *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 17: Science and research *

Progress since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 18: Education and training *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

$Overall\ assessment\ \underline{*}$

Conclusion *

Chapter 19: Telecommunications and information technologies *

Progress made since the last Regular Report $\underline{*}$

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 20: Culture and audio-visual policy *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion $\underline{*}$

Chapter 21: Regional policy and co-ordination of structural instruments *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 22: Environment *

Progress since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 23: Consumers and health protection *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

 $Overall\ assessment\ \underline{*}$

Conclusion $\underline{*}$

Chapter 24: Co-operation in the field of justice and home affairs *

Progress since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 25: Customs union

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 26: External relations *

Progress made since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 27: Common foreign and security policy *

Progress since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 28: Financial control *

Progress since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

Chapter 29: Financial and budgetary provisions *

Progress since the last Regular Report *

Overall assessment *

Conclusion *

3.2. Translation of the acquis into the national languages *

3.3. General evaluation *

C. Conclusion *****

D. Accession Partnership and Action Plan for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity: Global assessment *

Political criteria *

Economic criteria *

Ability to assume the obligations of membership *

Annexes *****

Human Rights Conventions ratified by the Candidate Countries, 15 September 2002 *

Statistical data *

Introduction

Preface

In Agenda 2000, the Commission said it would report regularly to the European Council on progress made by each of the candidate countries of Central and Eastern Europe with preparations for membership, and that it would submit its first Report at the end of 1998.

The Luxembourg European Council decided that:

"From the end of 1998, the Commission will make Regular Reports to the Council, together with any necessary recommendations for opening bilateral intergovernmental conferences, reviewing the progress of each Central and Eastern European applicant State towards accession in the light of the Copenhagen criteria, in particular the rate at which it is adopting the Union *acquis* [...] The Commission's reports will serve as the basis for taking, in the Council context, the cisions on the conduct of the accession negotiations or their extension to other applicants. In that context, the Commission will continue to follow the method adopted by Agenda 2000 in evaluating applicant States' ability to meet the economic criteria and fulfil the obligations deriving from accession."

On this basis, the Commission presented a first series of Regular Reports in October 1998, a second in October 1999, a third in November 2000, and a fourth in November 2001.

In its 2001 Enlargement Strategy Paper, which accompanied the 2001 Regular Reports, the Commission indicated that, given the pace of negotiations and the progress made so far, the Commission should be able to make recommendations on those candidate countries ready for accession on the basis of its 2002 Regular Reports. At its meeting in Seville in June 2002, the European Council concluded that "in order to enable the European Council to be held in the coming autumn to decide which will be the candidate countries with which negotiations can be concluded at the end of 2002, [...] the Commission has prepared this fifth series of Regular Reports with a view to the Brussels European Council in autumn 2002.

. At its meeting in Seville in June 2002, the European Council concluded that "in order to enable the European Council to be held in the coming autumn to decide which wi

- The structure followed for this Regular Report is largely the same as that used for the 2000 and 2001 Regular Reports. In line with previous Regular Reports, the present Report:
 - describes the relations between Bulgaria and the Union, in particular in the framework of the Association Agreement;
 - analyses the situation in respect of the political criteria set by the 1993 Copenhagen European Council (democracy, rule of law, human rights, protection of minorities);
 - assesses Bulgaria's situation and prospects in respect of the economic criteria defined by the Copenhagen European Council (a functioning market economy and the capacity to cope with competitive pressures and market forces within the Union);
 - addresses the question of Bulgaria's capacity to assume the obligations of membership, that is, the *acquis* as expressed in the Treaties, the secondary legislation, and the policies of the Union. In this part, special attention is paid to nuclear safety standards, which were emphasised by the Cologne and Helsinki European Councils. This part includes not only the alignment of legislation, but also the development of the judicial and administrative capacity necessary to in t and enforce the *acquis*. The European Council stressed the importance of this latter aspect at its meeting in Madrid in 1995 and on a number of subsequent occasions, most recently at Seville in June 2002. At Madrid, the European Council also stressed that the candidate countries should continue to make progress with the implementation and effective application of these States. The Seville European Council also stressed how important it was that candidate countries should continue to make progress with the implementation and effective application of the *acquis*, and added that candidate countries must take all necessary measures to bring their administrative and judicial capacity up to the required level.

This Report takes into consideration progress since the 2001 Regular Report. It covers the period until 15 September 2002. In some particular cases, however, measures taken after that date are mentioned. It looks at whether planned reforms, referred to in the 2001 Regular Report have been carried out, and examines new initiatives. In addition, this Report provides an overall assessment of the overall situation for each of the aspects under consideration, setting out for each of them the main steps still to be taken by Bulgaria in preparing for accession.

Furthermore, in view of the fact that the 2002 Regular Reports will provide the basis on which the Commission will formulate its recommendations as to which countries are ready to conclude negotiations, this Report includes an evaluation of Bulgaria's track record since the 1997 Opinion. As regards the economic criteria, the report also provides a dynamic, forward-looking evaluation of Bulgaria's economic performance.

For each of the negotiating chapters, this Report provides a summary evaluation of the extent to which commitments made in the negotiations have been implemented, as well as an overview of transitional arrangements that have been granted. The commitments made by each country reflect the result of the accession negotiations, and, in accordance with the principle of differentiation underlying the negotiation process, may differ between countries. Where negotiating countries have committed t hemselves to completing specific measures by the time of accession, the Commission assesses the relevant preparatory processes. For chapters on which the accession negotiations continue, and final commitments remain to be defined, an indicative assessment is given of the state of implementation of the

Bulgaria has set itself 2007 as the target date for accession. The time scale for the implementation of commitments made by Bulgaria takes account of this perspective.

The Report contains a separate section examining the extent to which Bulgaria has addressed the Accession Partnership priorities. This section also assesses the progress Bulgaria has made in implementing the measures set out in the Action Plan for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity that the Commission has developed with each negotiating country in the spring of 2002.

As has been the case in previous Reports, "progress" has been measured on the basis of decisions actually taken, legislation actually adopted, international conventions actually ratified (with due attention being given to implementation), and measures actually implemented. As a matter of principle, legislation or measures which are in various stages of either preparation or Parliamentary approval have not been taken into account. This approach ensures equal treatment for all the candidate countries and permits an objective assessment of each country in terms of their concrete progress in preparing for accession.

The Report draws on numerous sources of information. The candidate countries have been invited to provide information on progress made in preparations for membership since the publication of the last Regular Report. The information each of the candidate countries has provided within the framework of the Association Agreement and the negotiations, the National Programmes for the Adoption of the Acquis where they are available, as well as the process of developing the Action P lans, and various peer reviews that have taken place to assess candidate countries' administrative capacity in a number of areas, have served as additional sources. Council deliberations and European Parliament reports and resolutions have been taken into account in the preparations. The Commission has also drawn on assessments made by various international organisations, and in particular the contributions of the Council of Europe, the OSCE and the international financial institutions, as well as those of non-governmental organisations.

Relations between the European Union and Bulgaria

Recent developments under the Europe Agreement, including bilateral trade

Bulgaria has continued to implement the Europe Agreement and has contributed to the smooth functioning of the various joint institutions.

The Association Council met in November 2001. An Association Committee meeting was held in July 2002. The system of sub-committees continues to function as a forum for technical discussions.

The Joint Parliamentary Committee comprising representatives of the Bulgarian and European Parliaments met in June 2002. The Joint Consultative Committee with the Economic and Social Committee met in April 2002. In July 2002, an Association Council adopted a Decision to create a Joint Consultative Committee between representatives of Bulgaria and of the Committee of the Regions.

The share of the European Community in Bulgaria's foreign trade has continued to increase. Turnover in trade with the EC in 2001 was 19.4% up on 2000 and accounted for 51.6% of Bulgaria's overall trade. In 2001, exports to the EC were 13 % up on 2000, accounting for 54.8% (\notin 3.4 billion) of Bulgaria's total export sales. Its main industrial exports to the EC were metals (copper and iron) and textiles (clothing). Bulgaria's main agricultural exports to the EC ds and tobacco. In 2001, imports from the EC were up by 24.9% on 2000, accounting for 49.4% (\notin 3.8 billion) of Bulgaria's total imports. Its main industrial imports were vehicles and pharmaceuticals. Its main agricultural imports were food products, animal feed, alcohol and spirits.

Under the agreement resulting from the first round of trade negotiations in the agriculture sector (adopted on an autonomous basis, pending the conclusion of an Additional Protocol to the Europe Agreement), approximately 58% of EC agricultural imports from Bulgaria and 82% of EC agricultural exports to Bulgaria are duty-free or benefit from preferential rates (average trade figures 1998-2000).

Negotiations on a further round of liberalisation, covering more sensitive sectors where trade is currently rather low, in particular on account of high border protection rates, began at the end of 2001.

For processed agricultural products, additional mutual trade concessions have been negotiated and an agreement reached during the first half of 2002. The agreement adopted by the Association Council entered into force in September 2002. This agreement covers additional trade concessions regarding import duties and quotas.

Negotiations regarding a free trade agreement on fish and fishery products are near completion.

With regard to rules of origin, Bulgaria participates in the pan-European zone for cumulation of origin and introduced and applied the modifications and annexes to the multilaterally agreed rules of origin for preferential trade partners (European Union, EFTA, CEFTA and Turkey) as of 1 January 2002.

An anti-dumping complaint relating to imports of urea was lodged in October 2000 against Bulgaria (among other countries). The investigation was concluded and definitive duties reapplied as of January 2002. Definitive anti-dumping duties were imposed in May 2002 on imports of hot rolled coils. Bulgaria has initiated a safeguard investigation against the EC on imports of urea.

In March 2002, in response to protectionist measures taken by the US, which greatly restricted access to their market and created the risk of considerable trade diversion, the EU initiated provisional safeguard measures, with erga omnes effect, on imports of certain steel products. The measures were partly confirmed in September 2002.

Accession Partnership

A revised Accession Partnership was adopted in January 2002. Its implementation is reviewed in Part D of this Report.

Action Plan for reinforcing administrative and judicial capacity

As announced in the Commission's 2001 Enlargement Strategy, in spring 2002 the Commission and Bulgaria jointly developed an Action Plan to strengthen Bulgaria's administrative and judicial capacity, on which a common understanding was reached in April. The revised Accession Partnership adopted in January has served as the point of departure for this exercise.

The purpose of this Action Plan is to identify jointly the next steps required for Bulgaria to achieve an adequate level of administrative and judicial capacity by the time of accession, and ensure that all necessary measures in this regard are taken, providing Bulgaria with targeted assistance in areas that are essential for the functioning of an enlarged Union. As such, the Action Plan is a key tool for meeting the common objective of the EU and Bulgaria, i.e. to ensure that Bulgaria's preparations for accession take place as effectively as possible within the planned timeframe.

The implementation of the Action Plan is reviewed in Part D of this Report.

National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis

There has been no update of the National Programme for the Adoption of the Acquis during the reporting period.

Community Assistance

Three **pre-accession instruments** have been financed by the European Community to assist the applicant countries of Central and Eastern Europe with their pre-accession preparations: the **Phare** programme; **SAPARD**, which provides aid for agricultural and rural development; and **ISPA**, which finances infrastructure projects in the fields of environment and transport. The support provided by these programmes is focused on the Accession Partnership priorities which are intended to help the candidate countries meet the criteria for membership.

For the years 2000-2002, total financial assistance to Bulgaria amounts to around € 100 million annually from Phare, € 53 million from SAPARD, and between € 83 and 125 million from ISPA.

The Phare programme has been providing support to the countries of Central and Eastern Europe since 1989, helping them through a period of fundamental economic and social transition and political change. Its current "pre-accession" focus was established in 1997, in response to the Luxembourg European Council's launching of the present enlargement process.

Phare provides the applicant countries of Central and Eastern Europe with support for institution building, investment to strengthen the regulatory infrastructure needed to ensure compliance with the *acquis*, and investment in economic and social cohesion. This support comprises co-financing for technical assistance, "twinning" and investment-support projects, to help these countries with their efforts to adopt the *acquis* and strengthen the institutions necessary f or implementing and enforcing the *acquis*. Phare also helps the candidate countries develop the mechanisms and institutions that will be needed to implement Structural Funds after accession and is supported by a limited number of measures (investment and grant schemes) with a regional or thematic focus. In the context of the Action Plans for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity, particular emphasis is placed on the issue of institution building and associated investment intended to ensure compliance with the *acquis*. For 2002, the Commission has mobilised special financial assistance of up to & 250 million to accompany negotiating countries' efforts, over and above the indicative annual allocations for each of the Phare countries, bringing total Community assistance for strengthening the administrative and judicial capacity of the negotiating countries in 2002 to around €1 billion.

In addition to its annual Phare allocation, Bulgaria receives additional Phare funding in the framework of the understanding reached in November 1999 on early closure dates for Units 1 to 4 of the Kozloduy nuclear power plant. The agreement makes provision for additional Phare funding of \notin 200 million over the period 2000-2007, subject to certain conditions being met. The funds are used for nuclear decommissioning and associated measures in the energy sector, and are largely managed e EBRD.

The Phare programme allocated commitments of \notin 1000 million to Bulgaria during the 1992-1999 period, \notin 146 million in 2000, and \notin 110.8 million in 2001. The **2002 Phare Programme** for Bulgaria consists of an allocation of \notin 72 million for the National Programme, complemented by \notin 22.9 million under the Phare 2002 supplementary institution building facility. The 2002 Phare programme focuses on the following priorities:

- Economic reform and the adoption and implementation of the acquis: projects to improve the business environment and assist with the pre-accession strategy for agriculture and institution building; phytosanitary, veterinary and TSE control; company law; competition policy; consumer and health protection; gas liberalisation; wetlands management; and national conformity assessment (€ 24 million).
- Economic and social cohesion: projects to enhance youth employment; develop eco-tourism; and support the reform of vocational education and training. In addition, an unallocated amount for institution building was introduced, with the key objective of helping to implement institutional change and capacity building in support of Bulgaria's strategy for transition to the Structural Funds (€ 14 million).
- Strengthening public administration: projects to implement the strategy for judicial reform; combat corruption (four projects); strengthen the Public Prosecutor's Office; strengthen human resource capacity in the public administration; develop customs standards and practices and border control; implement the National Schengen Action Plan; strengthen border control and management; improve regional statistics; and develop tax standards and practice. (€ 36 million).
- Ethnic integration and civil society: projects to foster a more active and self-sustaining civil society; and promote social development in areas with disadvantaged minority populations (€ 8 million).

An additional € 28 million was allocated for cross-border co-operation programmes mainly for infrastructure projects on Bulgaria's borders with Greece and Romania.

Bulgaria also participates in and benefits from Phare funded multi-country and horizontal programmes, such as TAIEX, the Small and Medium-sized Enterprises Facility, SIGMA and the nuclear safety programme.

Furthermore, Bulgaria currently participates in the following Community programmes and agencies using Phare funds: Culture, Customs 2002, the Multi-annual Programme for Enterprises and Entrepreneurship, European Digital Content for the Global Networks, European Environmental Agency, Leonardo da Vinci II, Media (Plus), Socrates II and Youth. It also takes part in the Fifth Framework Research Programme, including Euratom. Phare helps meet part of the costs of participation in these programme es and agencies. In order to streamline Community legal procedures and thereby facilitate future participation by Bulgaria in Community programmes, a Decision is in the process of being adopted by the EU-Bulgaria Association Council establishing the general principles for such participation.

Overall, the impact of Phare has been positive. Effective transfer of know-how, equipment and financial resources has taken place in a number of important fields such as agriculture, customs, border police, public sector finances and the environment. Phare support in the area of customs has strengthened customs operations and management and provided a basis for the Bulgarian government's current package of broad-based reforms and impr ovements.

In Bulgaria, Phare played a particularly important role in the following:

- Supporting institution building and the approximation of air quality legislation through a twinning arrangement worth € 0.55 million. The project has helped with a detailed analysis of and programme for improving air quality in the area of the municipality of Pernik. It has contributed to the dissemination of knowledge on air quality assessment and management and can be replicated.
- The EC allocated some € 0.6 million under Phare 1998 and 1999 to support systems for animal identification and veterinary surveillance and to enable bovine identification, registration and movement control. The results obtained so far significantly improve surveillance of the epidemiological situation of bovines in Bulgaria, essential if unrestricted trade with the EC is to recommence.
- The creation of the SAPARD Agency in Bulgaria was supported by a succession of Phare projects, delivered by consultants and SIGMA experts. Bulgaria was the first candidate country to secure partial accreditation of its SAPARD Agency in May 2001, allowing implementation of the SAPARD programme to commence.

The 2000 Phare Review confirmed the accession-driven approach and emphasised the importance of helping countries to prepare for the Structural Funds. The trends introduced in 1997 have continued, with an increased role for Commission Delegations, further streamlining of procedures and increasing emphasis on raising the verifiable and quantifiable impact of Phare projects on institution building, investment in compliance with the *acquis*, and economic and social cohesion.

The Review also provided for the possibility of further decentralisation of Phare management by waiving the requirement for *ex ante* approval by the Commission Delegations for tendering and contracting. For this to be possible strict pre-conditions covering programme management, financial control and structures regarding public finance must be met. An extended decentralised implementation system (EDIS) should be put in place for each negotiating country at the latest by the time of accession. High Level Working Groups are being established for each country to oversee this process, along with other key procedural steps in the run up to accession.

The Commission approved the Bulgarian SAPARD programme in October 2000. The indicative allocation for SAPARD in Bulgaria for 2002 is € 54.6 million at 2002 prices (allocation 2001: € 54 million at 2001 prices).

The operational programme is based on four priorities: Improvement of the production, processing and marketing of agricultural and forestry products as well as the processing and marketing of fishery products in compliance with the acquis; promotion of environmentally - friendly farming and environmental protection; integrated rural development aimed at protecting and strengthening rural economies and communities; investment in human resources and technical assistance.

The Multi-annual Financing Agreement (MAFA), which sets out the rules for implementing SAPARD, was signed in December 2000. The Annual Financing Agreement (AFA) setting out the Community financial commitment for the year 2000 in is in force since April 2001. The AFA 2001 was signed in February 2002. It will enter into force when Bulgaria notifies the Commission of the completion of all requisite national formalities.

The following structures are responsible for the implementation of SAPARD: the National Fund, located within the Ministry of Finance administers SAPARD funds allocated under the responsibility of the National Authorising Officer (NAO) and is responsible for the national accreditation of the SAPARD Agency; the Ministers of Finance and Agriculture have been appointed Competent Authority; the State Fund of Agriculture (SFA) has been designated as the SAPARD Agency, responsible for the implem entation of the programme and for payment of financial aid to beneficiaries; the Managing Authority is the Ministry of Agriculture.

Bulgaria was the first candidate country to have its SAPARD Agency accredited and to receive provisional conferral of management authority (Commission Decision of May 2001). Its initial mandate is for the implementation, on a fully decentralised basis, of 3 out of 11 measures of the SAPARD programme (covering 61% of the amount available for Bulgaria and targeting investments in agricultural holdings, processing and marketing and diversification of economic activities).

An initial payment on account of € 13 million was made to the SAPARD € Account in the National Fund. Up until May 2002, additional payments of € 1.4 million were made. By 2002 the SAPARD Agency had received 258 project applications submitted by potential beneficiaries and approved contracts for the implementation of 156 selected projects, involving around € 20.7 million of public support.

A Monitoring Committee has been established by the Managing Authority and has met three times.

The **ISPA** programming framework is governed by the environment and transport strategies drawn up by the Bulgarian authorities in agreement with the Commission. In the case of transport infrastructure, the emphasis is on completing or upgrading the main Trans-European Networks and developing border connections. Priorities include the upgrading of railway infrastructure along priority sections of TINA corridors (Transport Infrastructure Needs Assessment: 5 of the 10 priority TI NA corridors pass through Bulgaria) so as to enable higher speeds and improved services, and completing the reconstruction and modernisation of major highway sections through pan-European transport corridors. As for the environment, the Bulgarian Government has focused on the improvement of water quality. Urban waste management and air pollution are also priority areas.

Three environmental projects were approved in 2001: waste water collection and treatment projects in Gorna (& 12.5 million) and Pazardjik (& 12.4 million), and a waste water treatment plant in Blagoevgrad (& 8.5 million). Two transport projects were approved in 2001: upgrading and electrifying the railway track between Plovdiv and Svilengrad (& 153 million) and a technical assistance project for the Danube bridge (both rail and road) (& 5.0 million).

Implementation of ISPA projects in Bulgaria is progressing slowly and the capacities of some of the implementing agencies are limited. An audit of financial management and control systems carried out in December 2001 made recommendations for the strengthening of structures and improvement of procedures. An adequate pipeline of projects should be prepared so as to be ready to take up the full future allocation of ISPA resources. Technical assistance from ISPA is available for all preparatory stages of projects, including technical, financial and economic feasibility studies, and environmental assessments. Moves towards the extended decentralisation (EDIS) of ISPA in Bulgaria are currently in progress.

The full (mid-range) allocation for Bulgaria has been committed, i.e. \notin 210.8 million, (\notin 104 million for 2000 and \notin 106.8 million for 2001). The allocation for 2002 will be between \notin 87.1 million and \notin 130.7 million.

Twinning

One of the main challenges still facing the candidate countries is the need to strengthen their administrative and judicial capacity to implement and enforce the *acquis*. As of 1998, the European Commission began to mobilise significant human and financial resources to help them with this process, using the mechanism of twinning administrations and agencies. In 2001, the Commission strengthened this emphasis on institution building further, th rough the launch of the Action Plans for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity.

The twinning process makes the vast body of Member States' expertise available to the candidate countries through the long-term secondment of civil servants and accompanying short-term expert missions and training.

A total of 503 twinning projects were funded by the Community between 1998 and 2001. Between 1998 and 2000, these projects primarily targeted the main priority sectors identified in the Accession Partnerships: agriculture, the environment, public finance, justice and home affairs and preparation for the management of Structural Funds. Since 2000, other important sectors of the *acquis* have also been addressed through twinning, such as social policy, the fight against drugs, transport, and telecommunications regulation. Twinning now covers all sectors pursuant to the *acquis*.

Thanks to the strong support of the EU Member States, 103 twinning partnerships were funded by Phare 1998 involving all the candidate countries and almost all the Member States. These first-generation projects have already come to an end. Under Phare 1999, a further 123 projects are currently being implemented and the programming exercise for Phare 2000 included a further 146 twinning projects. The 2001 programming exercise includes 131 twinning projects embracing all the Phare beneficiar y countries, as well as Cyprus and Malta. Under the 2002 programming exercise, 119 twinning projects have already been planned and approved for implementation. A substantial number of additional twinning projects are planned, and these should be approved and implementation launched before the end of 2002. They include twinning projects is that around 300 twinning projects are oper ational throughout the candidate countries at any one time. Furthermore, the candidate countries are being offered a further way of drawing on Member States' expertise through "Twinning light", a mechanism to address carefully-circumscribed projects of limited scope which emerge during the negotiation process as requiring adaptation.

For Bulgaria, eleven projects are being delivered under the 1998 Phare programme, fifteen under the 1999 programme, fourteen under the 2000 programme and twelve under the 2001 programme wholly or partly using twinning. Twinning will again be an important element under the 2002 programme, contributing to the results of around fifteen projects. These span a broad range of sectors including improving the business environment, agriculture, rural development, veterinary control, company law, c ompetition policy, consumer health, eco-tourism, judicial and administrative strengthening, combating corruption and border control.

Negotiations

Bulgaria has met the objectives set in the Laeken European Council Conclusions to open all the negotiation chapters in 2002. This was achieved during the Spanish Presidency in the first half of 2002.

By the end of September 2002, the following 22 chapters had been provisionally closed: Free movement of goods, Free movement of persons, Freedom to provide services, Free movement of capital, Company law, Fisheries, Taxation, Financial Control, Economic and Monetary Union, Statistics, Social policy and employment, Industrial policy, Small and medium-sized enterprises, Science and research, Education and training, Telecommunications and Information Technology, Culture and audio-visual poli cy, Consumers and health protection, Customs Union, External relations, Common foreign and security policy, Institutions.

< a="" name="_Toc486518778">Criteria for membership

Political criteria

Introduction

The political criteria for accession to be met by the candidate countries, as laid down by the Copenhagen European Council in June 1993, stipulate that these countries must have achieved "stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities."

In its 1997 Opinion on Bulgaria's application for EU membership, the Commission concluded:

"Bulgaria has set up democratic institutions and their stability now seems secure. They must be reinforced by practices more in keeping with the rule of law at all levels of the State apparatus. Free and fair elections produced changeovers of government in 1994 and 1997.

Shortcomings remain on respect for fundamental rights but the new government elected in April 1997 has announced a series of reforms in the right direction. Considerable efforts must be made to combat corruption, improve administration of justice and provide fuller protection for individual freedoms, particularly as cases of abuse of power on the part of the police and the secret services are still all too frequent.

Although the Turkish minority seems well integrated, this is not the case with the Romany (tzigane) population.

The improvements since the new government came to power suggest that Bulgaria is on the way to meeting the political conditions set by the European Council in Copenhagen."

In its 2001 Regular Report, the Commission found that:

"In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bulgaria fulfilled the political criteria. Since that time, Bulgaria has made considerable progress in further consolidating and deepening the stability of its institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. Over the past year, further efforts have been made in this direction. Bulgaria continues to fulfil the Copenhagen political criteria.

Since last year, further progress has been made in public administration reform. Many employees have civil servant status and there is now a Code of Ethics for Civil Servants. The Law on Access to Public Information is a positive step, but needs further clarification to ensure effective implementation. Further steps are needed to ensure an efficient, transparent and accountable public administration.

The recent adoption by the government of two strategies, one on judicial reform and the other on combating corruption, is a significant development. The challenge now is to implement these. The judicial system remains weak and there is as yet no reason to change the assessment made last year that further efforts are needed for it to become strong, independent, effective and professional and able to guarantee full respect for the rule of law as well as effective participation in the intern al market. Corruption has continued to give serious cause for concern. Enforcing the legal framework effectively presents a challenge and greater focus is needed on prevention.

Some progress has been made on human rights training of police and on combating trafficking of human beings. However, there is a need to address police behaviour, notably as regards reported cases of ill-treatment, which continues to give cause for serious concern.

A child protection agency and a national advisory council for child protection have been set up. Further steps need to be taken to make the Child Protection Agency operational. On child welfare, there is not yet a significant change in the number of children in institutions. Poor conditions in some homes for children with mental disabilities are cause for concern.

Roma continue to suffer from widespread social discrimination. Political commitment from the government to remedy their problems has still not been matched by concrete action. One more positive development is that some NGOs have pursued projects on desegregation of Roma schools.

Very little further progress has been made to meet the Accession Partnership priority to start implementation of the Roma Framework Programme, and to strengthen the National Council on Ethnic and Demographic Issues.

Concerning other related Accession Partnership priorities, Bulgaria has made further progress to implement the Civil Service Law. However, the priority of strengthening the judiciary has not yet been met."

The section below provides an assessment of developments in Bulgaria, seen from the perspective of the Copenhagen political criteria, including the overall functioning of the country's executive and its judicial system. Such developments are in many ways closely linked to developments regarding Bulgaria's ability to implement the *acquis*, in particular in the domain of justice and home affairs. Specific information on the development of Bulgaria's ability to implement the uis in the field of justice and home affairs can be found in the relevant section (*Chapter 24 - Co-operation in the field of justice and home affairs*) of part *B.3.1.* of this Report.

Recent developments

The political situation has remained stable over the past year. The Government has pursued the policy of integration with the European Union. The broad political support for EU and NATO accession has been further consolidated and there is a strong degree of consensus on this between President, government and all the political forces in Parliament.

A strategy for accelerating Bulgaria's negotiations for accession to the EU was adopted in February 2002 by the National Assembly. The need for certain changes to the Constitution ahead of EU membership has been acknowledged and a broad debate began in July 2002.

Presidential elections took place in November 2001. President Georgi Parvanov, former leader of the Bulgarian Socialist Party, was elected new President of the Republic of Bulgaria. The OSCE-ODIHR decided not to deploy a monitoring mission.

The National Movement Simeon II (NMS), in governmental coalition with the Movement for Rights and Freedoms, was established as a political party in April 2002 and the Prime Minister was elected NMS party leader.

Democracy and the rule of law

Bulgaria has achieved stability of institutions guaranteeing democracy and the rule of law. This was the conclusion of the 1997 Opinion and the subsequent Regular Reports, and has been confirmed by developments over the past year. This section focuses on the most significant developments since the last Regular Report.

The parliament

Parliament has continued to operate satisfactorily over the past year. The Committee on European Integration continues to take decisions through consensus, which is considered a reflection of the strong support of all parties represented in Parliament for EU membership. The composition of the committee reflects the number of seats each party has in Parliament.

The structure of the parliamentary administration responsible for EU integration changed in April 2002 with the creation of a new Directorate for Legislation and European Law formed by merging the former European Integration Directorate with the former Law and Legislation Directorate. The new structure should improve the way in which parliamentary committees and the legislative process receive expert advice on EC law, ensuring that such advice is available at all stages of the parliamentary process, not only when a draft law is first submitted to Parliament but in particular between first and second readings, which was sometimes lacking in the past. Attention needs to be paid to ensuring that the new Directorate is adequately staffed.

The executive

Progress on public administration reform has continued since the last Regular Report with further revisions to the legislative framework and the adoption of a Strategy for Modernisation of the State Administration. There has been some improvement in access to information through the implementation of the Law on Access to Public Information, but further improvements are needed.

The main structural changes since the last Regular Report are the creation of a Ministry of Energy and Energy Resources, decided by the Council of Ministers in December 2001, and the appointment of a Minister for European Integration in May 2002.

Reform of public administration is a priority in the Government programme, which sets three main aims: modernisation in line with the principles of the rule of law, market economy and respect for human rights; further strengthening of the capacity to prepare for EU membership; and preparation for effective administration after EU accession. The Minister for State Administration leads work on this.

A Strategy for Modernisation of the State Administration was adopted in June 2002. It is built on five main principles: openness to citizens, participation of social and economic partners and civil society in policy design, accountability of the administration, effectiveness of national policies, and coherence of the political process. Concrete measures are planned: firstly, to strengthen the civil service through a range of improvements to administrative capacity and working methods, inc luding measures to improve planning and policy-making, consultative mechanisms with economic and social partners, to prevent and combat corruption, to integrate minorities and vulnerable groups, and to improve the business climate; secondly, to strengthen the administrative capacity to implement the *acquis communautaire*; and thirdly, to strengthen Bulgaria's administrative capacity for managing structural funds. The time frame for the implementation of the strategy is 2002-2005.

The Laws on State Administration and the Civil Service remain the basic legal framework. Implementation of these has continued. By May 2002, the number of people with civil servant status had increased to about 22660 which represents about 33% of the total number of people employed in the central administration. For district and municipal administration, around 3460 people, about 18% of the 19 000 employees, have civil servant status.

When the Law on State Administration was amended in November 2001, provisions were introduced to regulate the distinction between the political and administrative responsibilities of heads of administrative structures. Whilst this is in general terms a positive change, it is important to ensure that transparent procedures are applied. The provisions permit the dismissal of certain senior officials and their deputies at the discretion of their appointing authority. The Givil Service Law and the Law on State Administration set the general values for public administration. These are legality, loyalty, responsibility, stability, political neutrality and hierarchical subordination. There is a non-binding Code of Conduct but this does not foresee any administrative sanctions for violations of the Code. People working in the public administration are also affected by other laws and regulations, which are not always harmonised, are sometimes difficult to understand and thus leave considerable scop e for interpretation. Provisions on conflict of interest for civil servants are not sufficiently clear.

As mentioned last year, transparent and competitive schemes for recruitment and promotion are not mandatory and are the exception rather than the rule. The Civil Service Law defines the salary system. Currently this does not take sufficiently into account the jobs, skills and performance of individual civil servants. Civil service salaries were increased by 10% in 2002, but remain low. There remains a shortage of qualified staff to ensure sustainability of reforms. Human resource management in the state administration is generally very weak and inconsistent across institutions.

The legal framework for administrative decision-making and the numerous administrative procedures in place needs to be simplified and clarified to ensure legal certainty. Administrative justice continues to be regulated by a number of different laws and procedures that result in an overly complex system. The judicial reform strategy includes proposed legal amendments which, when implemented, could help improve the situation. The Supreme Administrative Court has continued to function and h as seen an increase in its caseload since the last report.

The main piece of legislation regulating the openness and transparency of public information is the Law on Access to Public Information, in force since July 2000. This law has been amended twice, in January and April 2002, to align its provisions with the new Laws on Personal Data Protection and Classified Information. In the short time the Law on Access to Public Information has been in force, there has been a rise in the number of requests from citizens for access to public information and access has improved significantly. However, a considerable percentage of requests for information is not answered and there remain some imprecise provisions in the law, which leaves scope for discretion. Civil servants responsible for dealing with requests need more special training. There have been several court cases on the basis of the law, which have resulted in interpretations related to its implementation. These include the right of appeal when an administrative body does not reply to a request, and also acknowledgement that the definition of "public information" is imprecise in the law.

The current structure for co-ordination on European integration, of which most elements have been in place for over two years, is clear and works well, and is strengthened by the creation of a post of full Minister for European Integration. The Council of Ministers devotes at least one meeting a month to European integration, and a separate ministerial Council of European Integration, also chaired by the Prime Minister, meets once or twice a month. The two main units supporting this process, one in the Foreign Ministry and one in the Council of Ministers, have clear functions and good working relations. The working groups (one for each *acquis* chapter) work well. A further positive step is the creation of a new working group on administrative structures is necessary to ensure that Bulgaria has the necessary capacity for fully effective use of EC funds.

As regards planning and policy-making capacity, the Council of Ministers administration has some capacity for providing policy advice, but capacity on strategic planning is still poor. On the framework for policy making, there are clear procedures for preparing draft laws and submitting them to the Council of Ministers. As mentioned in previous reports, the quality of draft legislation is often poor. There is a need to improve impact assessment. Efforts are being made to improve quality and offer training on this. When the EC *acquis* is transposed, insufficient consideration is often given to how this can be adapted to the situation in Bulgaria and to implementation and enforcement capacity. Also, as mentioned last year, after new laws enter into force, more attention needs to be paid to monitoring implementation and enforcement, in particular in the court system. Consultations with civil society and economic and social partners are improving and there is increasing recognition that t his can be beneficial in helping prepare better quality drafts which will be easier to implement. Since the last Regular Report, there have been several good examples of co-operation with civil society, for instance on the development of action plans to implement the anti-corruption and judicial reform strategies.

There have been positive developments concerning training for civil servants. The Institute for Public Administration and European Integration is now operational. By the end of 2001, 1,159 civil servants had attended courses. In February 2002, the Council of Ministers adopted a Strategy for the Training of Civil Servants in the Bulgarian State Administration. This covers introductory, continuous and specialised training for civil servants. Training on the implementation of EC legislation is stressed. The first general training programme for newly appointed civil servants started at the beginning of 2002.

There have been no concrete developments as regards decentralisation of government functions or as regards strengthening the regional and local levels. In June 2002 the Government approved a programme for fiscal decentralisation which aims to achieve financial independence of municipalities and covers health, education and social support.

The judicial system

Since the adoption in October 2001 of the Strategy on the Reform of the Bulgarian Judicial System, referred to in the last Regular Report, Bulgaria has made considerable progress. An Action Plan for implementation of the strategy was approved in March 2002, and major amendments to the Law on the Judicial System to implement elements of the strategy were adopted in July 2002. The aim of the judicial reform strategy is "the development of European stan dards in justice". Its objectives include improvement of human resources, management, administration and the physical infrastructure of the judicial system. The Action Plan covers many of the problems in the current judicial system but not yet the overall structure of the judicial system itself (which covers judges, prosecutors and investigators), or their high level of immunity, where Constitutional change is required.

Despite good recent progress on reforms, the judicial system remains weak and there has been little concrete change in its functioning. During the work on reform, co-operation between the Ministry of Justice and the Supreme Judicial Council (SJC) has developed considerably. Also, there is now wider and more public discussion of issues related to judicial reform, which is in itself a positive development. The SJC was active in helping the Ministry of Justice to prepare the strategy and was consulted on the preparation of the Action Plan and draft amendments to the law. The SJC raised concerns where it considered reforms did not fully respect judicial independence (e.g. introduction of time-limited mandates for some appointments and establishment of the National Institute of Justice under the Minister of Justice, expressing concern that this may not be fully independent).

However, one area not yet addressed by the reforms is the structure of the Bulgarian judiciary, which consists of judges, prosecutors and investigators, as set out in the Constitution. As mentioned in previous reports, the fact that criminal investigators with the functions they exercise in Bulgaria (some of which are exercised by police elsewhere) are members of the judiciary is unusual, and reforms will be needed as regards the place where, and the responsibility under which, investigators are carried out. A second area which is not addressed by the ongoing reforms is that the Constitution and the Law on the Judicial System also give members of the judiciary (judges, prosecutors, and investigators) immunity from prosecution for all but serious crimes that carry over five years in prison. Immunity for the judiciary is being increasingly widely discussed, but there are as yet no concrete proposals for change.

Surveys indicate that the public perceives there to be a high level of corruption in the judiciary and legal professions, a claim disputed by the judiciary. The problem with the current system of immunity and ineffective disciplinary procedures is that it is also difficult to demonstrate that corruption does not exist.

According to Bulgarian law, the judiciary should have its own budget. The budget for the judiciary remains very low. As in previous years, the basis for discussion in Parliament was not the draft prepared by the SJC, but the draft prepared by the executive, the justification being the budgetary restrictions imposed by the currency board arrangement and poor absorption capacity of the judiciary. After consultations between the SJC and the Ministry of Finance with the mediation of the Minist er of Justice in the presence of the Prime Minister, the budget for the judiciary was increased (by comparison with the first proposal from the Ministry of Finance). The budget adopted by Parliament for 2002 was BGN 121.8 million (approx. €61 million), about half what the SJC proposed and around 0.3% of GDP. In EU Member States it is often around 2 to 4% of GDP. Around 73% of the budget goes on staff salaries and social contributions, with most of what remains going on day-to-day running costs, leavi the for equipment.

The SJC represents judges, prosecutors, and investigators, and its members comprise representatives of all three groups, as well as a number of members elected by Parliament. The three groups have different roles in the judicial system, and hence different interests and management structures. This makes it difficult for the SJC to play a fully effective role in the professional management of judges and of the court system. The SJC administration needs to be reinforced to ensure its effect ive functioning.

As required by the Bulgarian Constitution, the Bulgarian court system consists of three instances: first instance, second instance and cassation. There is also a Constitutional Court, a Supreme Administrative Court and a system of military courts.

There is little concrete change to report on court administration since the last report, and the assessment given then remains largely valid. Court administration remains weak. Court Presidents do not yet receive systematic training to carry out their administrative role. Insufficient attention is paid to the selection and training of court support personnel who could take on administrative tasks. However, with the amendments to the Law on the Judicial System in July 2002, the position of "Court Administrator" has been introduced to take on administrative tasks including financial issues. Administrative support for judges, prosecutors and investigators remains poor, so they are obliged to spend a lot of time on administrative and clerical matters. The number of magistrates is still considered insufficient, and lack of appropriate support is a contributory factor. Case management continues to lack transparent standards for assignment. The SJC has decided that a case distribution system based on objective criteria should be used throughout the court system, but this still has to be put into practice. As mentioned in previous reports, the conditions in the majority of the courts, prosecution offices and investigation services remain very poor. An issue which still needs to be addressed is the clear demarcation of the roles of the SJC and the Ministry of Justice in the management of the judicial system, again whilst respecting the independence of the judiciary.

The length of judicial proceedings still gives cause for concern. No comprehensive statistical data on the average length of civil or criminal cases is available, but there are reports of civil cases routinely taking 5-8 years and of labour disputes suffering 3-4 year delays. The problems identified include the time it takes for a case to move between different instances and the high proportion of cases returned because the quality of an investigation is considered unsatisfactory. These p roblems are the result of structural and administrative weaknesses in the judicial system. As mentioned last year, a high proportion of cases is still returned from courts to the public prosecutor, and there is a lack of transparent conditions for return.

Whilst the legal framework for access to justice and legal aid is essentially adequate, there are significant problems in practice in ensuring defendants have access to a lawyer at all stages of judicial proceedings (see section on civil and political rights).

Uniform methods or criteria are not yet in use for the competitive selection of judges or for monitoring performance before granting tenure or promotion.

In the prosecution service, selection, appointment and promotion policies are also not transparent. The prosecution service needs to modernise management methods in order to improve the transparency and efficiency of case handling.

The Magistrates Training Centre has continued to develop its important role over the last year, providing training for newly appointed judges, and general and specialised continuing training for members of the judiciary, covering *inter alia* EC law. The Centre remains very heavily dependent on donor funding. The Law on the Judicial System establishes a National Institute for the Judiciary, which will be a public institution, which is a positive step. It will be important to ensure t hat it builds on the experience of the Centre and that priority is given to adequate state funding, so that it can further develop training for the judiciary.

Significant amendments to the Law on the Judicial System were adopted in July 2002. These include the establishment of a system of accountability of courts, prosecution offices and investigation services to the SJC; various anti-corruption measures for the judiciary, such as property and income declarations; adoption by the SJC of codes of ethics for magistrates and administrative staff of the judiciary; a competitive recruitment system for magistrates, and promotion according to objective e criteria; and the creation of a public institution — the National Institute of Justice — to train members of the judiciary and administrative staff. The structure and status of the administrative services of the judiciary are brought in line with the Law on Administration and the Law on Civil Service. The procedure for adoption of the budget of the judiciary is also amended: the Council of Ministers will no longer be entitled to amend the budget, but only to express an opinion on it when it co arliament. The amendments also put in place a structure to provide better security for the premises of the judiciary and, where necessary, for certain magistrates. If fully implemented, most of these amendments will address many of the weaknesses in the current judicial system identified in this and previous Regular Reports. It is important to ensure that these changes are implemented in a way which fully respects the independence of judges.

The progress on reform of the judiciary since the last Regular Report is a positive development. As these reforms only started recently, it is not yet possible to assess their contribution to ensuring that Bulgaria's judicial system will be able to guarantee full respect for the rule of law and human rights and play its role in the further development of the economy and future enforcement of the *acquis*. The planned changes do not yet tackle the overall structure of the judici tem, nor the high level of immunity, for which constitutional changes will be required.

Anti-corruption measures

As mentioned in last year's report, a National Anti-Corruption Strategy was adopted in October 2001. Further good progress has been made with the adoption by the Council of Ministers, in February 2002, of an Action Plan for Implementation of the Strategy. The Action Plan, which covers the period 2002-2003, sets out who is responsible for actions and deadlines for these to be taken. A Committee was also set up to co-ordinate activities in the fight ag corruption, chaired by the Minister of Justice. The challenge now will be to maintain the momentum to ensure full implementation of the programme.

Whilst the Government and civil society have succeeded in putting the need to tackle corruption high on the public agenda and a considerable step forward has been taken through the National Anticorruption Strategy and Action Plan, surveys indicate that corruption remains a serious problem. However, Bulgaria's ranking in indexes of international perceptions has improved. The public still ranks corruption as one of the most serious problems facing the country. The high level o uption is attributed to factors such as low salaries, imperfect legislation, lack of transparent administrative controls and poor functioning of the judicial system. Customs, occupations linked to the judicial system, tax officials, parliamentarians, police and ministry officials are perceived to be among the most corrupt groups. Corruption is also seen as having a negative effect on the business and investment climate and therefore on economic development.

The overall strategy aims to create an institutional and legal environment for tackling and preventing corruption, for example by improving financial and fiscal control, reforming the customs agency, adopting measures in the Ministry of the Interior, improving the functioning of authorities at local level, creating more transparency in financing of political parties, and strengthening the role of the Parliament in combating corruption. It also includes anti-corruption measures related to the judicial system and the economic sector. Increased transparency and simplification of procedures were common features. Most elements have been followed up in the Action Plan.

The Government undertook a serious consultation exercise with NGOs and donors on the preparation of the Strategy and the Action Plan, and these bodies will be involved in implementation. The strong role of NGOs is to be welcomed. Measures are aimed at preventing as well as tackling corruption. However, on some important aspects of the strategy, such as decentralisation, the improvement of local governance, and the establishment of improved mechanisms for financing political parties, there is no detail as yet on concrete measures and deadlines. Likewise, no progress has been made on the draft Act provided for in the Strategy concerning MPs' immunity.

As mentioned above, police corruption is perceived to be a problem. Cases of bribery in the traffic and border police have been raised by EU citizens driving in and through Bulgaria. The Ministry of the Interior has developed an intra-departmental programme to combat corruption and prepared a draft code of ethical behaviour for the police, and in the past 6 months, of 150 corruption cases brought to the attention of the Ministry of the Interior, 40 cases were forwarded to the prosecution and 73 dealt with by disciplinary measures.

The Government has identified improving the customs administration as one of its top priorities in the fight against corruption.

The specialised anti-corruption unit in the National Service for Combating Organised Crime has been reinforced, with a doubling of its operational staff.

A number of new or revised laws have been adopted which should contribute to fighting corruption. In April 2002, the Public Procurement Law was amended. The changes made to the privatisation law, inter alia to make procedures more transparent, have started to have an effect. Following a review of licensing regimes, the Government has decided to abolish certain regimes and simplify others. In September 2002, amendments to the Penal Code were adopted which introduce more precise provisions on corruption and organised crime (see Chapter 24 - Co-operation in the field of justice and home affairs).

Corruption at the level of local offices of central institutions (e.g. inspectorates) is also seen as a problem. Public-private Councils have been set up with local municipalities and NGOs in a number of cities to develop local anti-corruption activities.

As mentioned above in the section on the executive, the Civil Service Law and Law on Administration set the general values for public administration and there is a non-binding Code of Conduct.

In accordance with the Act on property disclosure of people in senior positions in the State of May 2000, parliamentarians, ministers, senior judges and magistrates, district governors etc. have to submit annual asset declarations. The President of the National Audit Office holds a register. However, there is a need for effective monitoring and sanctions for those not complying.

The Institute for Public Administration has started to provide a training course on "Preventing corruption - risks and challenges to the public administration."

Bulgaria is a party to the Council of Europe Convention on Laundering, Search, Seizure and Confiscation of the Proceeds from Crime and to the Criminal Law Convention on Corruption, which it ratified in November 2001, as well as to the OECD Convention on Combating Bribery of Foreign Public Officials in International Business Transactions. It has signed but not ratified the Council of Europe Civil Law Convention on Corruption. Bulgaria continues to participate in the monitoring of anti-corr uption measures adopted by the OECD Working Group on bribery in international commercial transactions, and is a member of GRECO, the Council of Europe Group of States against Corruption (see Chapter 24 – Co-operation in the field of Justice and Home Affairs).

Bulgaria received a GRECO expert mission in September 2001. An evaluation report was adopted in May 2002 and subsequently made public. The GRECO report noted that so far, Bulgaria had made more progress in the adoption of legislation than in its implementation and enforcement. It stressed the need for an evaluation of the judicial system and for clarifying the functions of its various components. It noted that criminal procedure was slow and that relatively few cases of corruption had res ulted in judicial sanctions in comparison with the estimated level of corruption. In its conclusions, the GRECO report addressed fourteen specific recommendations to Bulgaria. The majority of these are addressed in the Action Plan adopted in February 2002. Bulgaria is strongly encouraged to ensure due follow-up to these recommendations.

Whilst progress has been made in setting the framework for tackling corruption, practical steps have yet to be taken to fully enforce this. It is still difficult to obtain a full and objective picture of the situation in the country and clear information on investigation, prosecution and sentencing in corruption cases.

Human rights and the protection of minorities

Bulgaria continues to respect human rights and freedoms. This was the conclusion of the 1997 Opinion and the subsequent Regular Reports, and has been confirmed over the past year. The following section focuses on the most significant developments since the last Regular Report.

Bulgaria has acceded to the main human rights conventions (see annex). The Bulgarian Constitution incorporates the European Convention for the Protection of Human Rights and Fundamental Freedoms in Bulgarian law, and accords the Convention supremacy over domestic legislation. In practice, there are hardly any cases of direct application of the Convention's provisions or of the jurisprudence of the European Court of Human Rights.

The principle of anti-discrimination is enshrined in the Bulgarian Constitution (Article 6). So far, however, comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation has still not been adopted and the EC antidiscrimination acquis has still not been transposed (see Chapter 13 - Social policy and employment).

The introduction of the institution of Ombudsman has now been under discussion for almost four years, and legislation (in the form of several different draft laws) has been before Parliament since November 2000, but has still not been adopted. Projects are under way in some municipalities. A Public Mediator was appointed in Sofia in 2001, and there are local ombudsmen in some other cities.

Civil and political rights

Since last year, Bulgaria has made some progress in improving the legal framework for asylum and for tackling the trafficking of human beings. However, problems remain, notably regarding police violence, conditions in prisons, and access to legal aid.

In June 2002, the European Court of Human Rights ruled against Bulgaria in the case of Anguelova v. Bulgaria. The case related to the death of the applicant's son, aged 17, in January 1996 while in police custody following arrest for attempted theft. The Court held that there had been a violation of Article 2 (right to life), in respect of the death of the applicant's son, as the authorities had failed to provide timely medical care and had not met the obligation to conduct an nvestigation. The same case found violations of Article 3 (prohibition of inhuman or degrading treatment or punishment), Article 5 (right to liberty and security) and Article 13 (right to an effective remedy).

In January 2002, the Government decided to make public the Council of Europe's Committee for the Prevention of Torture report on Bulgaria prepared after a visit in 1999.

As last year, there continues to be serious criticism as regards *degrading treatment by the police*. Concerns have been raised in particular about physical ill-treatment of people by the police at the time of arrest and during questioning. Members of the Roma community, including minors, are reported to be at particular risk of such treatment. The law on the use of firearms during arrest also needs to be aligned with international standards on use of force to ensure it does not allo w police excessive freedom of action. Investigations into police abuse remain rare and from the small number of cases that do come to court there are few convictions. Further steps are still needed to set up a more effective system for dealing with police misconduct. Police still come under the military, rather than civilian, jurisdiction. Whilst some steps have been taken on training in human rights, these need to continue. Some steps are being taken to ensure better minority representation amongst police forces. As of May 2002, 158 Roma worked in police structures. With donor support, a police training centre has been created in the Roma Stolipinovo district of Plovdiv. 60 policemen of Roma and Bulgarian origin were trained in working in a multiethnic environment.

Trafficking in human beings remains a serious problem in Bulgaria, which is a country of origin, transit and to a lesser extent destination, for women and girls trafficked for the purpose of sexual exploitation. However, the Government is making significant efforts to tackle this. It has co-operated closely with international organisations and NGOs to prevent trafficking. Specialised units set up within the National Service to Combat Organised Crime and the border police to specifi cally address trafficking problems have conducted investigations and made arrests, but there appear to have been few convictions. The legal framework has been significantly reinforced with the Amendments to the Penal Code adopted in September 2002, which introduce more precise definitions and new penalties for trafficking of human beings. Reports also suggest that a disproportionately high share of trafficked women and girls from Bulgaria belong to the Roma community.

Conditions in *prisons* and in places of *pre-trial detention*, in particular police stations, continue to be inadequate, with conditions in pre-trial detention reportedly still much worse than in the prisons. Steps still need to be taken to bring all police stations into line with the basic requirements identified in the Council of Europe Committee for the Prevention of Torture report. Improvements to some investigation detention facilities have been made but efforts need to be pursued. Some are still located underground and very few have outdoor exercise yards. Overcrowding remains a serious problem. Besides a lack of financial resources, inadequate management and organisation are also contributing factors. The Ministry of Justice has increased the daily budget for food in prisons by 20% but this still remains very low. As regards access to medical treatment for prisoners, an agreement has been signed with the National Health Insurance Fund to cover initial and regular medical c heck-ups. There are still reports of physical ill-treatment of prisoners by staff in some prisons.

Amendments to the law on execution of penalties were adopted in June 2002. These amendments increase the range of detainees who can be held in open prison hostels and increase the possibilities for them to work. They also regulate for the first time the use of physical force and of other means of dealing with emergency situations and group protests. The amendments to the Penal Code adopted in September also introduce probation as an alternative punishment.

There has still not been any improvement in the legal framework for placing young people in correctional boarding schools and social educational boarding schools. As mentioned in previous reports, this needs to be revised to ensure cases have been heard in full conformity with the right to a fair trial before detention.

Whilst the legal framework for access to justice and *legal aid* is essentially adequate, there are significant problems in implementation and ensuring sufficient budgetary resources. Neither the Ministry of Justice nor the judiciary keeps official statistics, but surveys conducted indicate that in around 50% of cases at the pre-trial phase and around 30% of cases during the trial, defendants do not actually have legal representation. Funding for this comes out of the general budget for the judiciary, which remains very low. However, the Strategy for the Reform of the Judiciary (*see section on the judicial system*) foresees improvements in the medium term through establishment of a National Bureau for Legal Aid.

In 2001, there was an increase in the number of persons seeking *asylum* in Bulgaria. A new Asylum Law adopted in May 2002 considerably improves the legal framework. The National Agency for Refugees has a clear set of aims and objectives; however, its administrative capacity needs to be improved. Co-operation between the Agency, international organisations and NGOs has improved. However, co-ordination between the Agency and the border police is poor. It is important to ensure that there is adequate judicial control over decisions of the border police. If the new law is fully implemented, at all stages of the procedure, asylum applications will be dealt with by the Agency for Refugees, which will have representatives present at the border posts.

The Bulgarian Criminal Code penalises a number of acts inspired by *racism and xenophobia*, including incitement to hatred. However, the implementation of these provisions reportedly remains unsatisfactory and there continue to be reports of public expressions of racism and racist attacks against Roma.

Whilst the Bulgarian Constitution guarantees *freedom of expression* and press freedom, libel remains an offence under criminal law. Fines remain very high for the economic conditions of the country and in comparison to fines for other crimes at BGN 3 000 –7 000 (approx. $\leq 1500 - \leq 3500$). Whereas in principle this could be justified, these provisions must be applied in accordance with the principles of proportionality and the right of the public to information ses against journalists accused of libel in 2001, especially against investigative journalists.

As regards *religious freedom*, a new Act on Denominations has still not been adopted. The last report raised concerns that not all interested parties had been consulted; it is positive that the debate has recently been broadened and will be important to ensure that the Act adopted fully respects international human rights standards.

The 2001 Regular Report commented on discrimination on the grounds of *sexual orientation* in the Bulgarian Penal Code. Amendments to the Penal Code adopted in September 2002 eliminate these discriminatory provisions. They equalise the age of consent, the legal situation for homosexual and heterosexual prostitution, the penalties for rape and decriminalise provisions on homosexual actions in public.

NGOs continue to play an important role. The continuity and sustainability of their activities remain a major issue, as funding is scarce and mostly donor-driven. The National Assembly Committee on Civil Society Issues, which was established in July 2001, immediately set up a Public Council of 21 NGO representatives, nominated by NGOs through an open public procedure. The Council's main function is to mediate between NGOs and the Committee to ensure transparency, dialogue and cipation. Its meetings are open to the public. NGOs have contributed to many draft acts (NGO tax environment, Ombudsman law, Penal Code changes to avoid discrimination on grounds of sexual orientation etc.). In April 2002, the National Assembly Committee on Civil Society Issues and the Public Council adopted a Charter for Interaction between NGOs and the public authorities, which is a notable achievement.

Economic, social and cultural rights

Limited progress has been made on the legal framework for children's rights. The situation of people in institutions for the mentally handicapped gives serious cause for concern and needs to be addressed urgently.

No further progress has been made on the adoption of general equal opportunities legislation. However, as concerns specific legislation relating to employment, the Employment Promotion Act, which came into force in January 2002, contains provisions on non-discrimination (see chapter 13: social policy and employment).

As regards political representation, as mentioned last year, following the June 2001 elections, women make up about 25% of the new National Assembly, a significant increase from 11% in the previous assembly. There are three female ministers, including one Deputy Prime Minister.

As regards *children's rights*, in February 2002, Bulgaria became a party to the Optional Protocols to the Convention on the Rights of the Child on the sale of children, child prostitution and child pornography, and on the involvement of children in armed conflict. In May 2002, Bulgaria ratified the Hague Convention on Protection of Children and Co-operation in respect of Inter-country Adoption. It entered into force in September 2002. The State Agency for Child Protection has unctioning for one year. However, enforcement and implementation of the Child Protection Act seems to be difficult, due to the weak authority and capacity of the Agency, the poor capacity of local child protection departments and the lack of effective co-ordination between the Ministries involved. Necessary secondary legislation has not yet been adopted and there remain some contradictions between the Child Protection Act and other relevant laws. As a consequence, the Act has not yet led to improved protect ion of children, especially those in institutions (e.g. childrens' homes and special schools). The measures on promoting and facilitating a community-based childcare approach and non-institutional care in the Act have not yet been made to the Family Allowances Act to ensure that ch are better targeted towards low-income families. Bulgaria needs to continue and strengthen its efforts in reform of the child care system, ensuring that the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child is fully respected and that the best interests of the child are reflected and children are placed in institutions only as a last resort.

As regards *socially vulnerable* people, living conditions in institutions in particular for the mentally handicapped (social care homes) and psychiatric hospitals give serious cause for concern. Conditions are very poor with overcrowding and shortages of sanitary facilities, medication, staff and, in some cases, food. There are also reports of ill-treatment. It is important to ensure that such institutions provide decent living conditions and that inhuman and degrading treatment of those in care is prevented.

A further major problem is the legal framework for placement and detention in institutions. The law on this needs to be changed to avoid arbitrary detention or violations of the right to a fair trial. Last year's report mentioned that in October 2000, the European Court of Human Rights delivered a judgment in the case of Varbanov v. Bulgaria, establishing a violation of Article 5 of the European Convention on Human Rights, by ruling that his detention in a psychiatric hospital was a ry. Deficiencies in Bulgarian legislation were identified but the law has still not been changed. In July 2002, in the European Court of Human Rights case M.S. vs. Bulgaria, a friendly settlement was found. The court noted the similarity to the Varbanov judgment and the need for relevant amendments in domestic law to provide necessary safeguards against arbitrariness of detention in psychiatric institutions.

The Bulgarian Constitution provides for the right of all workers to form or join trade unions. The right to strike was generally respected.

Bulgaria is a party to the revised European Social Charter. It has not signed the Additional Protocol providing for a System of Collective Complaints.

Minority rights and the protection of minorities

In the census conducted in 2001, 4.6% of the population identified themselves as Roma and 9.4% as of Turkish ethnic origin.

As reported in previous years, Bulgaria has a good Framework Programme on integration of minorities targeted at the Roma. Regrettably, however, this has not yet been put into practice. There has been very little change in the situation of the Roma minority since the last Regular Report, and there are no significant developments in their socio-economic situation and living conditions to report. Roma continue to suffer from social inequalities due to the accumulation over time of factors that have worsened living conditions. There has been no change in the very high rates of unemployment. If serious actions are not taken urgently, further deterioration can be expected. Discrimination, and cases of violence against members of the Roma community continue to be reported. This situation needs to be addressed urgently. In this context, the adoption of comprehensive anti-discrimination legislation would be an important step forward.

Living conditions for the Roma remain extremely poor. There is little progress to report on the call in the Framework Programme for municipalities to legalise illegally-built homes in Roma neighbourhoods, which means there is very limited access to public services. Where measures are taken, this is mainly through EC and other donor-funded projects. Major urbanisation projects are under way in Sofia and Plovdiv. Few municipalities in Bulgaria have approved strategic plans for regional deve lopment where projects for legalising the illegal Roma housing and the urbanisation of Roma quarters are included.

Problems remain as regards access to the health care system. Not all of the Roma population is aware of the procedures and the need to have health insurance. Financial contributions required from the patients, no matter how small, are often too high. Participation in education remains poor. Poverty is one of the factors in this, as families cannot provide their children with basic items for school or children have to help with income generation. Out of Roma children who do enter school, very few go on to secondary education. As reported last year, schools in Roma areas remain in practice segregated and offer low-quality education and poor facilities. Roma make up about 32% of children in "special" schools and 21% of children in labour education. Efforts need to be made to combat segregation and encourage integration. Whilst some initiatives are underway through donors to address segregation, this is not yet in practice a Government policy.

If the Framework Programme is to be effectively implemented, institutional and administrative strengthening of the National Council on Ethnic and Demographic Issues (NCEDI) is essential. Whilst some new appointments of well-qualified people have been made, this is insufficient. Roma representation in the public administration at central level is very limited. At municipal level, many municipalities have a Roma expert or Roma Council. At local level, as of May 2002, 12 out of 28 districts had adopted district programmes on integration of minorities and five of these planned concrete activities.

There have been signs of increased tension between the Roma and ethnic Bulgarian communities. Roma protests were observed in some cities where people claimed that they have not been paid welfare benefits for a long time. Violent protests by the Roma community took place in Stolipinovo, one of the areas most densely populated by Roma families on the outskirts of Plovdiv, after the local electricity company cut off the power due to unpaid electricity bills.

The Turkish minority is integrated into political life through elected representation at national and local levels and increasing representation in public administration. Further efforts are still needed for the socio-economic integration of those ethnic Turks who live in economically underdeveloped regions.

In April 2002, the Minister of Education and Science created a Consultative Council on Education of Children and Schoolchildren from the Minority Groups. Its role includes the preparation and implementation of a national education strategy for the integration of children from the minority groups, including proposing concrete measures for the desegregation of schools.

Seminars for journalists from local, regional and national media were carried out to raise positive public awareness on minority issues.

As reported in previous years, Bulgaria is a party to the Council of Europe Framework Convention for the Protection of National Minorities. In view of delays on the Bulgarian side in reporting on the implementation of the Convention, the Advisory Committee on the Framework Convention has not yet adopted an Opinion on Bulgaria.

General evaluation

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bulgaria fulfilled the political criteria. Since that time, Bulgaria has made considerable progress in further consolidating and deepening the stability of its institutions guaranteeing democracy, the rule of law, human rights and respect for and protection of minorities. This has been confirmed over the past year. Bulgaria continues to fulfil the Copenhagen political criteria.

Significant progress has been made on the judicial reform strategy with the adoption of an Action Plan and major amendments to the Law on the Judicial System. These need now to be implemented in order to translate them into concrete improvements in the functioning of the system. Issues relating to the structure of the judicial system and immunity still need to be addressed.

There have also been positive further developments in the fight against corruption, which remains a cause for serious concern, with *inter alia* the adoption of an action plan to implement the National Anti-Corruption Strategy. Whilst the need to tackle corruption is now high on the agenda Bulgaria needs to continue to make concerted efforts to implement the measures.

There has been some further progress on public administration reform with revisions to the legislative framework and the adoption of a Strategy for Modernisation of the State Administration but serious efforts are now required to develop and implement reforms to ensure an efficient, transparent and accountable public administration.

Bulgaria continues to respect human rights and freedoms. Bulgaria has considerably improved the legal framework, for tackling trafficking, corruption and organised crime as well as for asylum. However, there are a number of areas which continue to give cause for concern. A new issue that has been identified is the very poor living conditions of people in institutions, in particular the mentally handicapped. This needs to be addressed urgently. Bulgaria also needs to strengthen its efforts to reform the child care system, to make sure that the best interests of the child are reflected and reduce the number of children in institutions. Poor conditions for detainees in particular in police stations and pre-trial detention also need to be addressed.

The recent changes to the Penal Code are an important step in removing discrimination on the grounds of sexual orientation.

Concerning the Roma community, little has been done to remedy problems of social discrimination or to take concrete action to improve very poor living conditions. The adoption of comprehensive antidiscrimination legislation would be an important step forward in this regard.

Economic criteria

Introduction

In its 1997 Opinion on Bulgaria's application for EU membership, the Commission concluded:

"Bulgaria's progress in the creation of a market economy has been limited by the absence of a commitment to market-oriented economic policies; it would not be able to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union in the medium term."

In its 2001 Regular Report the Commission found that:

"Bulgaria is close to being a functioning market economy. It should be able to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union in the medium term, provided it continues implementing reform and intensifies the reform effort to remove persistent difficulties."

In examining economic developments in Bulgaria since the Opinion, the Commission's approach was guided by the June 1993 conclusions of the Copenhagen European Council, which stated that membership of the Union requires:

- the existence of a functioning market economy;
- · the capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union.

In the analysis below, the Commission has followed the methodology applied in the Opinion and in the previous Regular Reports. The analysis in this year's Regular Report takes stock of developments since the Opinion was drafted.

Summary of economic developments since 1997

Following the economic crisis in 1996/97 with negative real GDP growth, the currency board arrangement introduced in July 1997 has helped to stabilise the economy and to achieve real GDP growth of close to 4% on average since 1998. Inflation came down from above 1,000% on average in 1997 to 9.8% on average since then. Fiscal discipline kept the deficit below 1% of GDP in all years, which gradually brought down public debt. A slowly rising share of priva te investment in GDP and substantial inflows of foreign direct investment indicate an improving business climate. Foreign direct investment has also been the main source of an orderly financing of high current account deficits. However, as a consequence of structural reforms, but also sometimes of their late implementation, unemployment has kept on rising until 2001 and is slowly declining since then.

Main Economic Trends												
Bulgaria		1997	1998	1999	2000	2001	Average	2002 latest				
Real GDP growth rate	per cent	-5.6	4.0	2.3	5.4	4.0	2.0	3.2 Q1				
Inflation rate - annual average	per cent	:	18.7	2.6	10.3	7.4	9.8	6.4 July ^b				
- December-on-December	per cent	:	1.6	7.0	11.3	4.8	6.2	5.5 July				
Unemployment rate - LFS definition	per cent	13.7	12.2	14.1	16.3	19.9	15.2	17.6 Q2				
General government budget balance	per cent of GDP	-0.3	1.3	0.2	-0.6	1.7p	0.5p					
Current account balance	per cent of GDP	10.0	-0.5	-5.3	-5.5	-6.0	-1.5					
	Million ECU/€	923	-55	-642	-760	-940 °	-290	-424 JanJune ^c				
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy - debt export ratio	per cent of exports of goods and services	165.9	165.0	183.8	132.0	:	:					
	Million ECU/€	9,211	8,172 ª	9,451	10,083	:	:					
Foreign direct investment inflow - balance of payments data	per cent of GDP	4.8	4.2	6.2	7.9	5.1	5.6					
	Million ECU/€	445.1	479.3	756.3	1,084.3	775 °	708	256 JanJune ^c				

a series break as a result of some technical changes to the definition.

b Moving 12 months average rate of change

c Source: Website of the National Bank

adstantial progress has been made with the restructuring of the comony ubstantial price i ncreases and the privatisation of distribut nd savings deposits, and only one major state-owned bank and privatization. Enterprises representing ion companies. The conditions for busin

Main Indicators of Economic Structure in 2001									
Population (average)	Thousand	7,915							
GDP per head ^a	PPS	6,500							
	per cent of EU average	28							
Share of agriculture ^b in: - gross value added - employment	per cent per cent	13.8 ^c 26.7 ^c							
Gross fixed capital formation/GDP	per cent	17.8							
Gross foreign debt of the whole economy/GDP ^c	per cent	77.4							
Exports of goods & services/GDP	per cent	55.7							
Stock of foreign direct investment	Million € € per head ^a	2,151 ^d 272							
Long term unemployment rate	per cent of labour force	12.6							

a Figures have been calculated using the population figures from National Accounts, which may differ from those used in demographic statistics. ^b Agriculture, hunting, forestry and fishing. ^c Data refer to 2000.

d Data refer to 1999.

Assessment in terms of the Copenhagen criteria

Following the crisis in 1996 and 1997, the banking s controls the State Savings Ba nk (DSK), account

The existence of a functioning market economy

as well as trad There have continued appear for the median-term seconds referen programm and for EU succession-today paties. Tight focal policies and matches the base base seconds of the second cifies the economic policy programme bases ed by the Ministry of Finance, following co th was 4%, despite a slowdown following more adverse global econom lawer the wars, it stood at only 17.8% in 2001 which is still relat Marnaonnnic stability has alknud antainal conomic granth at an average of almost 4% since 1998. This was the case in spite of successive adverse external c year, and real GDP growth in the first qu arter of 2002 is estimated at 3.2% (compared with the corresponding period of 2001). It was largely ho process of catching-un. mic crisis in Turkey and the global economic slowdown. Last year, real GDP gro growth was high at 20% in 2001. Although the investment-to-GDP ratio has in nt account deficit continues to reflect the gap between domestic savings and investment, but is ecc ed by exports of ser vices, in particular tourism. eeded by net inflows of foreign direct in round and 2007 do to the high part personanting of the summa and sume righted and AdM minuted. Thes summybupment rate increased steadily from 12.5% to 19.9% to 19.0% to 20.0% tive system, which will reduce the rised by high no Balgain antimes to allow to the arrange hand arrangement which you introduced in July 1997 and focus do Balgarian for (b) Balgarian for (b) against the arm. Due to higher inflation than anticipated, real short-term interest rates tameed negative at the end of 2001. The bread monetary aggregate M3 grees by 18% in exclusively by economic actors' demand for mo his shows that the economy is being remonstrated and that money demand is being re-established after its strong decline in the 1996-97 period of high inflation. The currency board arrangement continues to be well covered by foreign exchange en a gle comps hard anogene la socialità gliffais. Inflation, messarella y de harmonistica et consumer prises on annal averga, har accession et a socialità gliffais. Inflation, messarella y de harmonistica index o consumer la tejer le rest i messare donne e la socialità gliffais. Inflation, messarella y de harmonistica index o consumer la tejer le rest i messare donne e la socialità gliffais. Inflation, messarella y de la socialità gliffais. Inflation, messarella y de harmonistica index o consumer la tejer le rest i messare donne e la socialità gliffais. Inflation, messarella y de la socialità gliffais. Inflatità y de la socialità gliffais. we right. The general government deficit has been below 1% of GDP in all years. In 1998 and 1999 there was even a a GDP nins. Corporate and personal income tax to tes were reduced by several percentage points in 2001 and 2002 to n to been implemented to reduce long-term fixed risks, but the already high social security contributions require further \$% and 4% of GDP in all years, except 1997. en a VAT bank account. Ref The manusanity fully mix has here adaptate. In the absence of monetary policy instruments and changes to exchange rates, fixed policy has been the main instrument of macros contomy, would have triggend further inflationary pressures and an increase in the already high current account deficit. The current account deficit has possible for any been a policy which the Hadjarin is had some rate accessing ent agencies in the hadjaring respective high tends of the accession control who are also as a policy which the Hadjarin is had some rate accessing ent agencies in the hadjaring respective high tends of the accession control who are also as a barries of the accession control who are also as a barries of the hadjaring accession who hadjaring a order to stabilise the currency board arrangement and to avoid a pro-cyclical stimulus to demand, which, in view of the high growth rates and the do and was covered by net inflows of foreign direct investment except in 2001. In order to maintain external competitiveness vis-a-vis the euro ar

Liberalization of prices has progressed, but further steps used to be taken. The number of goods and services with administered prices has decret to 13.2% in 2002. However, due to their increased weight in the consumer price index, in particular because of increased demand for postal services and telecommunications are still administer ed or regulated. Measured by their shares in the consumer price index in Private source/lip has became predominant in the canony. In 2001, 73.4% of all employees were working in the private sector. The private sector's sh 4821 privatisation deals were concluded so 79.8% of all assets slated for privatisation (i.e. all assets of enterprises not on a shortlist for definiti e hands since land restitution was finalised in 2000. More than 90% of all forest land property has been restituted until April 2002. Bet 63.4% in 1997 to 71.7% in 2001. Ho

ndmr wm nt ap in 2002. These are intended to accelerate the privatisation of the remaining stat minority stakes in companies will go to a specific segment of the stock exchange. 300 companies a the State Insurance Institute (*IZI*), was privatised in August 2002. By early September 2002, a b proved to be too demanding, proncedures for post-privatisation control have also been simplified

thet early and exist and ill not avorking property, delloogly the simulation is imposing. The proportion of new companies (including self-employed) in it also ordered both the overall business cycles and a lack of rigouri in market early procedures. Matter early its sill hampened by numerous lie of the government's curring our the corresponding lightairproperduces. Still, administrice obtacts will calculate the early matter and the government's and the control of the early observed procedures in the site of the early observed processing and the early observed procedures that and the early early observed processing and the early observed process

nut of propert right remains difficult in none areas: The slow proceedings of the judicial system often discourage parties from taking cases to court, which contributes ing directly to political decision-makes, this path is not always available to smaller or domestic companies. The enforcement of intellental property rights from and the prices of agricultural latera are bound to a structure of the structure of costs on the private sector. Whilst large foreign companies are sometimes able to bridge these shortcomings in the legal and re using property is mostly defined and markets are working properly. However, in spite of the finalisation of land rests in survivations and its instrument and the instrumed that currently about 25% of the famil The non-banking financial actor is still in its andy dardspoort stage. The stock exchange remains underdeveloped and is largely illiquid with very low turnover despite a high number of companies quo foreign to domestic sources of financing publit. The ratio of gross premium income of all insurance companies (including life and non-kife insurance) to GDP was still rather low at 1.6% in 200

The capacity to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union

The ability to fulfil this criterious depends on the existence of a market economy and a stable macroeconomic framework, allowing consoning agents to marke decisions in a climate of predictability. It also requires a sufficient amount of blank the market on the function of the stable on the observation of the observation of the observation of the stable on the observation of the obse l capital, including infrastructure. State enterprises need to be restructured and all enterprises need to invest to improve their efficiency. Furthermore, the mo ion it achieves with the Union before accession. Both the volume and the range of products traded with EU Member States provide evidence of such integrat

tts can make decisions in a climate of stability and predictabi

of or sources indicate a set of a further improvements in the efficiency of speading on obtaction. Overall, Bulgaris has a well-selected and trained workforce. In 2001, according to the Labour Force Sorvey, 10% of the working-age population had strainy obtaction, 40% had were obtained and trained workforce. In 2001, according to the Labour Force Sorvey, 10% of the working-age population had strainy obtaction, 40% had were obtained and trained workforce. In 2001, according to the Labour Force Sorvey, 10% of the working-age population had strainy obtaction and the second trained workforce in a strain of the information of the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison. Bullet and the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison. The sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison. The sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in comparison to the sort of the contemp and in the contemp and re noded to inerasis the efficiency and the quality of iduation. Demographic decline and insufficiencies in the management of ress rary or lower levels of education. Of those having upper secondary education, only 34% had a secondary vocational educ and natural sciences, this is less so for social sciences. The shortage of corporate management skills and a properly traine re each for support to self-employed and temporary job schemes, and 3% for training measures. The government has also

Researd of the private and public capital datek is pregnating, adhough fows a low retring low.] High investment growth, supported by rehinvely low interest rates, has increased the ratio of gross fixed capital formation to GDP from 10.0% in 1997 to 17.8% in 2001. However, this ratio is still too low to support continued high growth and carding-up. Net inflows of foreign dated investment (PDI) had an important role in private capital formation to GDP from 10.0% in 1997 to 17.8% in 2001. However, FDI inflows stee fairly low in the first quarter of 2002, but have been higher again in the second quarter due to the condusion of sever privations dated history interest the hand of tarial indegrations are not area to retroat interest or the condustor of sever privations dated history interest. However, FDI inflows vere fairly low in the first quarter of 2002, but have been higher again in the second quarter due to the condustor of sever privations dated history interest. However, FDI inflows vere fairly low in the first quarter of 2002, but have been higher again in the second quarter due to the condustor of sever privations dated history interest. However, FDI inflows vere fairly low in the first quarter of 2002, but have been higher again in the second quarter due to the condustors of sever privations dated history interest. How interest rates and to attract to retroat the second quarter dates or the condustor of the second quarter dates or the second quarter date or

of infrustructure is low, but shouly improving. The overall quality of transport infrastructure is such that domestic and foreign investors see it as a many 1.5% in 1997. The length of motorw mys has increased from 314 km to 328 km, while the raiway network maintained its size. The inform eviration of the fixed-line telecom monoroly (RTC). As improved randow and randow and increases is for a very low by evel. Energy to be very linearly as the information of the start o , though several privatised enterprises still depe

The attractors of the anosony is changing at a fast pase. The agricultural sector's share of gross value added has roughly halved, from 26.6% in 1997 to 13.6% in 2001: this is due not only to was much less pronounced in terms of empl, with more than a quarter of the labour force remaining in agriculture, and only some 3% of the labour force shifting from industry into

e gross value added and for 50% of employment in 1997, and increased to 43% of the gross value added and 65% of employment in 2000. In spite of this positive development, it is still insufficient to compensate for the substantial job losses of large sin ib Bajars, including red tape, compasion and lack of access to finance, information and management skills. Banks often refuse to grant loants So Mills because they ask overly high requirements for collateral, which is difficult to use due to the micro-bashing extern and agarantee final, but the multier of hereificians (constrained development remain ver prime). on is that SMEs tend to suffer from not look neuroising construction isation and restr ses following their pri d suppliers have decreased, but still amounted to 1.6% of GDP for tax arrears and 0.7% of GDP for social security has maintained the financial discipline of state-owned enterprises by monitorine closely their use of credits and was

gration of the Bulgarian cosmony has instanced. The general openness of the economy, mease ext of the Europe Agreements, the EU ecome Bulgaria's most important trading pare many and Greece have become the most important destination for Bulgarian export administrative capacity required for an open trade policy because of complicated and ise trade with the EU account tions outside the EU are Rus of ores, petroleum products, pharmaceuticals, perfumes, fertilisers, textiles and clothing, footwear, iron and steel, non-and 2002, which partly explains Bulgaria's relatively weak export performance in these years. Reforms were started in : ferrous metals and machinery. Of the EU Member States

In spite of some rail exchange rate appraisation, international competitiveness has not deteriorated. Due to the inflation differential between the euro area and Bulgaria, the Bulga 10%. However, since labour prod uctivity increased more than real wages, unit labour costs at the end of 2001 were still below their level at the beginning of 1998.

Bulgaria is a functioning market economy. It should be able to cope with competitive pressure and market forces within the Union in the medium term, provided that it co

Bulgaria has achieved a high degree of macroe irces. Good p

rer, further efforts are needed to improve the flexibility of markets. In particular, the efficiency of the administrative and judicial system has to be reinforced, to allow economic agents to make decisions in a climate of stability and predictab neies remaining in the land market affect the p enformance of this market and of related economic sectors. An implementation of these reform measures should contribute to higher levels of private and public investment which are key requin ility. Administrative procedures affecting the enterprise sector, including ban ements for sustained growth and sufficient competitiveness within the Union.

Introduction

This section addresses the question of Baglarit's failed into a source for exploration of membership – durity the gain and institutional framework, however as the applic, by means of which the Usion implements in solutions. Anguide an evaluation of relevant developments may be appliced and the solution of the source of the solution of with the list of 29 ne

mber 1995, the Madrid European Council remarked on the need to create the conditions for the gradual, harmonious integration of the candidate countries, particularly through the adj enting it properly in the field, via the appropriate administrat ive and judicial structures. This is an essential precondition for creating the mutual trust indispensable for future membership In June 2002, the Seville European Council repeated how important it was that candidate countries should continue to make progress with the implementation and effectiv Regular Report, the present Report seeks to add furt pth and detail, focusing on the main administrative structures required for implementing the various aspects of the *aspiri*.

In its 1997 Opinion on Bulgaria's application for EU mem

"Despite the progress that has been made, Bulgaria has neither transposed nor taken on the e Bulgaria is to have the structures to apply and enforce the acquis effectively."

In the 2001 Regular Report, the Commission found that

ned a good pace of alignment of legislation with the acquis but still needs to pay more attention to how this will be impl

g the internal market, Balgaria has made furthor progress in most anas. In frae movement of goods progress continued with nonborship of European Actualitations as a major advicement. Reinforcement of administrative infrastructure for standardisation and certificatio certing intellectual and industrial property rights improved, but further steps are needed to ensure this is enforced. On state aids, Bulgaria is at last starting to develop and implement a framework for state aids but this is not yet com and of market surveillance systems, is still necessary. On fi-ttible with the acquis. Bulgaria still lacks a legal framnancial services, Bulgaria has developed sound bank ework on data protection compatible with the acua

ure, Bulgaria has continued generally good progress on approx ion of legislation but implementing the acquis poses a significant challenge. Veterinary and ph ading. The parti n of SAPARD is a not

of the Bulgar

ress has been made to amend labour law towards alignment with the acquis, progress on equal tre ent legislation remains slow. Whilst ad ional health and safety will need to be increased

ning regional policy, Bulgaria has made little further progress and much more attention needs to be paid to preparation for implementing structural policies

Bulgaria has continued its positive efforts on transposition of the EC environmental acquis but implementation and the cost of alignment remain a challenge.

sport has been pursued both on adoption and creation of impleme ctures. There has also been an increase in in

The restructuring of the energy sector has progressed at a very slow pace throughout 2001 following delays in the planned revision of the legislative framework. These delays ha

on with the EC and its r

oms and taxation, Bulgaria will need to develop IT systems that allow for exchange of data with the EC

Whilst some progress can be noted on establishment of the inst efficient and controllable management of EC funds.

ing, the slow pace of

Bulgaria has fulfilled partially and made progress since last year on all of the short-term Accession Partnership priorities relating to the acquis. Concerning alt to address the majority of medium-term Accession Partnership priorities." The chapters of the acaui

As indicated, the following review of Bulgaria's ability to assume the obligations of membership has been structured in accordance with the list of 29 no anguit, including sectoral policies, economic and fiscal affairs, regional policy, environment, justice and home affairs, external policies, and financial quest

Progress since the last Regular Report

In the area of horizontal and procedural measures, a number of legislative measures were taken to remove remaining discreptonics between Bidgotation and the again and to further separate the functions of standardisation and certification functions and/or certification were removed. However, certification activities are still not adequately segregated from accreditation. Horizontal legislative measures include in particular amendments to the Masurements Act and to the National Naturdat Work has progressed well in aligning sector specific legislation with the *asquirk*. In the are have been transposed. red by the New /

ered by the Old Approach Directives, some progress can be recorded on chemicals, cosmet tiles and footwear, but none in the fields of motor vehicles and wood

As regards the issue of food safety and foodstuffs legislation (us also Chapter 7 – Agricultury), several ordinances have been adopted as regards labelling, additives, packaging material, hygiene, i

There are no developn ents to report on the *aquis* on firearms or cultural goods. ess has been made on the development of administrative capacity for the imple

Further progr strategy.

monised area, the principle of mutual recognition of conformity has not yet been introduced into Bulgarian legislation

In the area of public procurement, a significant step forward was taken by amending the Law on public procurement, with effect from May 2002. H

Overall assessment

While Bulgaria has reached a reasonable level of tran ost areas, the framework Law on technical require The Bulgarian Institute for Standardisation has been created as a result of the amendment to the National Sta its for CEN. CENELEO

As regards food safety legislation, a considerable amount of legislation has been to should put priority on training inspectors a nd staff working with food. sed. Efforts are still res

eillance bodies. This co-or

sed areas, the Bulgarian authorities should ensure that the principle of

The amendment to the public procurement Art is a further step towards implementation of the *applic*, although it does not yet ensure full aggment and further efforts will have to be made in flue with in practice and what consequences the esemption of (emi-) private providers of mobile telecommunication services from the obligations of the law will being. The necessary implementing legislation constructors. The appeal system neces to be further improved. New amendments to the law go as first as the Constitution aboves and more substantial changes would require an anomeniem to the Const operation of the target of the system necessary in the system of the construction of the system of the system of the observation and the system of the Constitution and the system of the system of the construction. I buights committents in this registric. Its effective entorement, an use with the phenophes of the again, as suit to be ensured, if is not yet clear how equal treatment or domestic and torigin buakers was has not yet been developed. The review capacity of the Public Procurement Directorate remains limited and needs to be strengthened. The complaint system does not function effectively and does not provide enough titution. Audit functions still need considerable strengthening. Bulgaria has made a commitment to establish a Public Procurement Agency by the end of 2002, Burto formal decisions have yet been taken to this effect.

Conclusion

In its 1270 Option, the Commission concluded that Hispatrix records on the implementation of its commitments on free norvenet of goods upper the Falloperity for concl, however, that the Balgarian authorities thould also ensure that, as a area to provide the falloperity of the other the balgarian authorities though also ensure that, as a area to provide the start of t

Progress made since the last Regular Report

aria has made further progress in alignment with Community provisions, as well as in the establis Some progress can be reported on mutual recognition of professional qualifications. With the adoption of the law on the chambers of architects a the chambers of engin

In the area of citizens' rights, there are no particular developments to report. It should be recalled that the Consti l to allow full aliş

Bulgaria has made further progress in the area of free movement of workers. The new Employment Promotion Act, which er introduced new rules as regards residence permits for self-employed workers.

nued to facilitate Bulgaria's participation in the European Employment Services system (EURES)

Bulgaria has continued to strengthen bilateral relations with a view to the future of

Overall assessment

plainter work is necessary in the area of mutual necognition of qualifications, both as regards the legislation framework and algument with the individual designment with the legislation on lawyers, planmatist and vest. By accession, it has to be ensured that all Biguin's legislation is aligned with Community rules, in particular with respect to nationality, residence and language its. Lag on on mutual necognition needs to be monitored to ensure that al distinguishes between academic and professional recognition and includes simpler procedures to allow the provision of services. With respect to professional qualifications obtained before harmonisation, Balguia needs to introduce measures to ensure that all its professional can, as of accession, meet the requirements laid own by the directives of mining will need to be algusted in number of cases to ensure that a condumine vestion describes the strength and the case to ensure that all its professional can, as of accession, meet the requirements laid own by the directives of mining will need to be algusted in number of cases to ensure that all its professional can, as of accession, meet the requirements laid own by the directives of mining will need to be algusted in a number of cases to ensure that all its professional can, as of accession, meet the requirements laid own by the directives of mining will need to be algusted in a number of cases to ensure that cannot describe the advectives of the cases between the low algusted in a number of cases to ensure that all its professional can, as of accession, meet the requirements laid own by the directives of the cases between the logistical cases of the strength and the cases of the strength and the cases of the cases between the logistical cases of the strength and the cases of the strength and the cases of the

With a view to the future co-ordination of social security systems, Bulgaria must ensure that it will have reached the required lev principles as the social security co-ordination regulations, and this will familiarise the administration with the relevant procedures

Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made substantial progress in aligning with the *acquir* in this area. It has taken further steps further work is needed to achieve full alignment and to provide for the establishment of the necessary administrative bodies Negotiations in this chapter have been provisionally closed. Bulgaria has not requested any transitional arrangen seven years. Bulgaria is generally meeting the commitments it has made in the accession negotiations in this field.

ria should focus further efforts in particular on ensuring that the curricula and training of health profe

Progress made since the last Regular Report

ast year's Regular Report, Bulgaria has made good progress

In the field of the right of establishment and the freedom to provide services (other than financial services), Bulgaria has made p imposed on EU nationals engaged in free-lance activities. Howe ver, related amendments to the Ordinance have not yet been adopted. ents to the Law on Bank E

In the field of **financial services**, with regard to the banking sector, in December 2001, the Parliament adopted amendi the right direction but it still remains to be seen if this unction effectively.

Only one amendment to the Ordinance on mandatory insurance can be reported during the period under review. The Ie of the Gree n-Card Bureau. ns were adopted in the field of secu

The Law on Personal Data Protection was adopted by Parliament in December 2001. The Bulgari

Overall assessment

In the field of the right of establishment and freedom to provide services, the amendments to the Law on Foreigners attempt to exempt free-lance activities from the requirement for a and eliminate rema ining legal provisions and administrative practices that are incompatible with the EC Treaty provisions on right of establishment and freedom to provide services. al sector of Bulgaria continues to be small and do ed by the banking sector.

As regards banking services, the amendments to the Law on Bank Deposit Guarantee contributed to the gradual adoption of the res

The performance of the banking sector has improved in terms of extended credit, total banking assets and profitability. However, the recovery of confidence in the banks is a dow process and the pre-1996 level ha regulations. However, the Bulgarian National Bank needs to obtain broader powers to investigate the identity and suitability of direct and indirect shareholders of banks especially in some offshore jurisdictions.

In the field of insuance, most of the EC insuance again (2nd and 3rd generation of Directives, insuance accounts Directives) remains to be transposed in the period 2003-2005. The decision to separate supervision of insurance from supervision of gambling is a positive step and should help imp good representation of foreign companies, is relatively small. Privation of the sector has advanced with one company privatised and procedures for others in progress. Balginia is gradually transposing the aquiri on the approximation of the laws relating to insurance against civil lability in respect of the use of moor vehicles.

itics annis. Bulgaria will need to int

g is needed as regards both the State In In the area of pension funds, cap

Concerning data protection, the Data Protection Act of December 2001 aims at aligning Bulgarian legislation in this field with the *acquis*. However, the stn necessary if the Act is to be brought in line with the *acquis*. Steps should be taken to put administrative capacity in place to implement and enforce the Act.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that, while there was some progress in the financial services area and a clear commitment existed on the part of the authorities to undertake further stu The Commission added that the process would require a sustained effort over several years before Balgaria's financial system would be able to sustain the impact of integration in the internal market.

os in this field

Negotiations on this chapter have been provisionally closed. Bulgaria has been granted a transitional period (until 31 December 2009) as regards the investor compensation scheme, at the end of which it should reach the mi im level of coverage set out in the acquit. Bulgaria is generally meeting the commitments it has made in the accession negotiat Bulgaria should focus further efforts on the field of insurance and securities. Bulgaria has made some pr

Progress made since the last Regular Report

The previous Regular Report indicated that Bulgaria had already achieved substantial alignment of its legislation with the acquir in this area and since then there are few new developments to report.

nts and payments, lis In the field of payment systems, in November 2001, the Bulga

As egath money handering, as an ended Law on Measures against Money Landering entered into Force in January 2002. The uncedness reflect the transformation for financial intelligence to Against and the out of Algainst as a graves, as and a structures and a structure and a structure

Overall assessment

In the field of capital movements, liberalisation in line with the application is well advanced. A number of transactions, mainly outflows, are not, as yet, liberalised. However, the main remaining restrictions relate to the acquisition of real estate by foreigners. This issue still needs to be address

In the field of payment systems, the adoption of legislation in line with the *aquiv* in the areas of cross-border credit tra still to be finalised. cerned, the Ministry of Finance and Bulgarian National Bank are resp sible for supervising foreign exc As far as administrative capacity is co

As regards money laundering, whilst the legisla with the acquis, further ch ages are still required for this to be c

The specialised institutions - the Bureau of Financial Intelligence and the Police Service for the Identification of Corruption and Serious Economic Crime- are now working on ir

The administrative capacity of the Bareau needs to be reinforced further by recruiting additional staff. Its stability and functional independence to be fully ensured; in particular, attention needs to be paid to ensuing the functional independence of the Head of the Bareau. The slowness of investigations and lack of proper supervision of its activities. The effectively with requests for investigations from both international and donestic sources. The more attracts are been approach to be international staff teeds to be improved so it can deal effectively with requests for investigations from both international and donestic sources. The more attracts are been approach to a deal effectively with requests for investigations from both international and donestic sources. The more attracts are been approach to a deal effectively with requests for investigations from both international and donestic sources. The more attracts are been appendence to an adjusted staff as positive development. The Bareau's impection functions, however, needs to be considered proteined as a done state and the state and the state and the state attracts are been appendence attracts are been appendence attracts are been appendence attracts are been appendence at the state attracts are been appendence a

is also a need to increase the resources available in other in-

Whilst the adoption of instructions on the co-oper een the Bureau and other a

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bulgaria had introduced currency convertibility for most current account transactions, but limited liberalis situation and performance of the ban king sector and depending on the progress of economic stabilisation and structural reform. On money laundering, the Comr

Negotiations in this chapter are provisionally closed. Bulgaria has been granted transitional periods concerning the acquisition of ownership over land for secondary residences by EU citizens (for a period of want to establish themselves and reside in Bulgaria are excluded from the scope of the transitional period. Bulgaria is generally meeting the commitments it has made in the accession negotiations in this field.

Progress made since the last Regular Report

last year's Regular Report, Bulgaria has continued to make progress in

unting, the new Law on accounting entered into force in la

rds administrative capacity, the Ministry of Culture and the Patent Office have pr

ive work is ongoing to harmonise Bulgarian legislation nts of the Rome Convent

Overall assessment

As regards company law, several of the EC directives in this field have already been incorporated into Bulgarian rational law. However, while preparatory work is under way, legislation still needs to be brought fully into line with elements of the *aquis*, especially on acquisitions, mergers and divis

The cost system has glined experimential have regression solvered in the cost mercel angular proceedings. Register cases in hundred within 1 to 7 days. In many district coarts, there is a system for decremosic processing and materiance of there have experiments and the cost mercel angular proceedings. Register cases in hundred within 1 to 7 days. In many district coarts, there is a system for decremosic processing and functionates of the cost been cased in the horizon there have experiments and the cost been cased as a system of the decremosic processing and functionates of the cost been class with a result of the cost and the cost of the ent in line with the acquis on acc

Furthermore, as regards enforcement of intellectual and industrial property rights (IPR), whilst efforts have been made, high levels of pirate software and coar market. Particular efforts are needed to enhance enforce ment of border controls and to train law enforcement bodies and the judiciary to handle IPR matters.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that special efforts were necessary to improve the protection of intellectual and industrial property rights. It concluded that problems existed for the imp in laws relating to privati station and concessions. The Commission added that as regards accounting and auditing, a high degree of conformity with the Directives had already been achieved but the profe ficient knowledge and experience in the judiciary of company and commercial law issues, in particular o eded to improve. Major efforts were needed to ensure the practical application of the existing legislation.

er are provisionally closed. Bulgaria has not re

Progress made since the last Regular Report

e last year's Regular Report, Bulgaria has made further progress in this area

In the area of anti-trust, no further legislative developments can be reported as the Bulgarian legislation was already largely in line with the aquiti

ission for the Protation of Competition (CPC), which is the national competition authority in Bulgaria, has continued to build on its an

In the stars of state add, important progress has been made on the liquidities either of the stars of states add, important progress has been made on the liquidities either in the down of the web stars of the the away. The stars are add control. It does not, however, provide details on the substance either in that should be used for the assessment to the stars are add and the stars are add control. It does not, however, provide details on the substance either in that should be used for the substance either in the add of the target stars. The does not however, provide add end to the substance either in the add of the stars are add end to t

The new Law on State Aid confirms that the State Aid Department within the Ministry of Finance is responsible for ex post state aid monitoring (annual report and inventory). The State Aid Directorate within the Commission for the Protection of Competition is in charge of ex ante state aid continol (annual report aid aiventory). The State Aid Directorate within the Ministry of Finance is responsible for ex post state aid monitoring (annual report and inventory). The State Aid Directorate within the State Aid Directorate within the Ministry of Finance is responsible for ex post state aid monitoring (annual report and inventory). The State Aid Directorate within the State Aid Directorate within the Ministry of Finance is responsible for ex post state aid monitoring (annual report and report) for state aid entities on finite and the state on aid to be improve. The state aid enforcement record of the Commission for the Protection of Competition tox. 99 state aid decisions between October 2001 and the end of August 2002. Both the quality and quantity of the decision need to be improve.

Regular text, Biograin has confirmed that it will apply for an extension of the period during which aid can be granted for restructuring, ap rowned 2 to the Tairope Agreement. An overall estimating plan noteds to be prepared, along with individual pla begins of the nutritional and estructuring programmes of the composition encessary measures of exceeding value and accessary can in produced of the trainprogrammes of the composition with an excessary can be applied in a constant or the interview of the trainprogrammes.

Overall assessment

As regards austimate, the overall assessment is positive, with some further efforts will requested. The hughping Law on the Porection of Competition of 1998 contains the main principles of the ECS statisticant tasks as regards methy methy assessment is positive, with some further efforts are enclosed assessments approximation of implementation and and encore control in a fully in independent and the main principles of the ECS statisticant and tasks as regards the methy assessment is positive, with one functional performance. The functional performance is a fully independent and tasks are equal to a fully independent and the main principles of the ECS statisticant of Competition on a fully independent and tasks are particular to a fully independent and the main function and tasks are contained. It is important to do more to increase assarchess of the rates, especially within the business community. In sever of the rates, assarching the particular contained functional performance in the statisticant and encorements of the rates, principles on the functional performance. The functional performance is a fully independent and the principles of the rates assarchess of the rates, assarching the particular section performance is an effective and deterrent sunctions padicy should also be continued. It is important to do more to increase assarchess of the rates, especially within the business community. In view of the planed modernisation of the rates assarches assarchess assarches

As regards state and, the overall assessment is hot yet sublactory because there is not yet a sound enror to upgrade its expertise in the area of state aid control and to improve the quality of its state aid decisis on-line. Following the entry into force of the new State Aid Law, one of the main priorities of the CPC

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded, in the field of anti-trust, that Bulgaria had made some progress with the institutional and legislative requirements, but also that the implementation, enforcement and control of the legislation would requin the requirements of etc dible control of state aid, in particular as regards transparency in the granning of state aid and the establishment of a well-functioning monitoring authority with sufficient powers to monitor state aid and a sufficiently qualified staff. Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has m enforcement of State aid discipline

Progress made since the last Regular Report

Since the last Regular Report, Bulgaria has made steady progress in this area on alignment of legislation and institution building. Progress has been more limited in the enforcement of legislation.

Agriculture in Bulgaria accounted for 13.8% of gross value added in 2000, compared to 16.2% in 1999. Employment in agriculture accounts for 26.7% of total employment.

In 2001, overall agricultural trade between Bulgaria and the EC increased significantly, largely due to the "double-zen-agreement" to liberalise trade in agricultural products originating in Bulgaria increased by 15% to € 247 million. EC exports to Bulgaria increased by 8% to € 201 million. The trade bulance in favour of Bulgaria amounted to € 44 million compared to € 55 million in 2000. Meat, wines and oil seeds dominated EC imports o, conton and essential oils were the main export goods from the EC.

Since the last Regular Report, Bulgaria has taken further steps in developing its agricultural policy. In 2001, a total sum equivalent to €148 million was allocated to agriculture.

In its 2001 Programme released in October 2001, the Bulgarian Government identified five priorities for the agriculture; and forestry sector: efficient management of land and forest resources and development of market structure; enhancement of the competitiveness of the faming and processing sector, and creation of conditions for export orientation of agriculture; perparation for introduction of the requirements of the Eff

Consultative Council on Agriculture was set up in March 2002. Its task is to draw up a national strategy on the development of agriculture in the next seven years in order to achieve a level of production and development that will facilitate integration into the European Union.

The process of restitution of ownership of agricultural land has been completed. At the end of 2001, 91% of woodbacks and forests had been restituted. The preparation of a national calastre and property register is under way. However, in spite of this, the number of transactions and prices of agricultural land remains low because of factors such as fragmented plots of land with shared ownership, lack of documentation in hand registrates and slowness of handling of legal disputes. Calastral maps have been designed for over 90% of this control y seminory in connection with land and forest restoration. However, in spite of necessary legal certainty.

Horizontal issues

Bidgrids has not yet eshibilished a Physing and Intervention Agency bas has decided to establish a Physing and Intervention Agency, channelling both European Agriculture by 2003. It is to constitute a single Physing and Intervention Agency, channelling both European Agriculture By 2003. It is to constitute a single Physing and Intervention Agency based and a single Physing and Intervention Agency.

Further progress was made on the key registers, on which the Integrated Administration and Control System (IACS) will be built, in particular with the system for the identification and registration of animals and the identification system for agricultural parcels.

in arganic production, buigana adopted turther legislation in September 20

There have also been further preparations for Bulgaria's participation in the Furw Accountury Data Network (FADN) through work to determine the typology of farms, and progress on transferring operational know-how concerning FADN, which started in April 2002.

Common market organisatio

Feasibility studies for the alignment and implementation of CMOs in the wine and meat sectors are underway. The studies cover legal, institutional and economic aspects and proposals on how to introduce CMOs in Bulgaria.

Concerning analyte crops, in the cereal sector, no new legislation has been adopted. The intervention centres for buying-in of cereals were identified in 2001. An analysis carried out in 2001 p

As regards specialized super prior the fruit and vegetables sector, an Ordinance on the quality requirements and conformity checks on fresh fruit and vegetables was promulgated in March 2002.

In the tobacco sector, legislation has been introduced to fix the prices of tobacco products of local origin and of imports. In March 2002, the process of privatising the national tobacco holding company started

In the wire sector, a number of ordinances have been adopted since the last Regular Report. These cover terms and procedures for planning grafting and grafting a

In relation to *unimal products*, no new developments can be reported

Rural development and forestry

Bulgaria's practical experience with the SAPARD programme contributes to the preparation for the EC rural development measures (*or Sation A.k.-Ratainus hetwen the Europau Union and Bulgaria*), Rural development is an important part of the Bulgarian Government Programme 2001, with 2 priorities out of the 5 agricultural ones. Progress has been made regarding co-ordination between institutions in th rural development and rega the drafting of the National Agric-minomental Programme.

7th regard to forestry, in March 2002, the Minister of Agriculture and Forests and the Interior Minister signed a joint memorandum laying down the most urgent measur

Veterinary and phytosanitary issues, including food safety

ince last year's Regular Report, approximation of legislation in the veterinary and phytosanitary sectors has progressed well. Further efforts are still necessary in the transposition of the aquir and much remains to be done in the field of enforcement of veterinary/hygiene control standard

1 the veterinary sector, a number of regulations have been adopted since the last report on the identification of small numinants, on pophylactics, on the implementation of the computerised network linking veterinary authorities ANIMO, on bonder impection, on the measures to monitor residues in live animals and animal poducts and on the placing on the market of matrix.

In the field of animal Analh, the National Veterinary Service (NVS) has developed detailed surveillance and monitoring programmes for various animal diseases and the response to the blactongue outbreak in 2001 was satisfactory. The Animal Disease Notification System (ADNS) has been operational since the end of 2001.

With regard to animal milion, progress was made with the adoption of ordinances on the protection of laying hens and on the skunghtering conditions. The NVS appointed veterinary experts in all 28 regions to control the implementation of regulations but further efforts are needed on the actual enforcement of rules

Atrinul identification and animal holding registration has made good progress and the identification of bovine animals has been completed although some further improvements are needed (e.g. in 17 of the 28 regions, bovines have only once ear-tag instead of double tags and metal tags need to be replaced by plastic). As for small numinants, an Ordinance on the identification of small numinants (goats and sheep) was adopted in November 2001 and work on ear-tagging started in April 2002. The introduction of EUROVET in one region, a system compatible with ANIMO and SHIFT, was successfully completed at the end of 2001 and is is being installed in the remaining NVS regional offices.

Bulgaria has started the implementation of its integrated programme for border veterinary control and the construction of the post at Kapitan Andreevo on the border with Tarkey has started. Bulgaria initiated ISE: epidemiological surveillance in 2010 but needs to essure this is fully in line with EC requirements: Laboratories for ISE: dagoostics have been refurbibled and ISE: regidemiological surveillance in 2010 but needs to essure this is fully in line with EC requirements: Laboratories for ISE: dagoostics have been refurbibled and ISE: regid test kins were deliv

Some progress was made with the adoption in March 2002 of an Ordinance for the disposal and processing of animal waite, aimed at further aligning with the acquire.

In the phytosanitary sector, good progress has been made on the application of legislation since the last Regular Report in particular in the field of harmful organisms and plant protection products. Some laboratories and five border inspection posts have been equipped and the central office, the 15 regional services and the 13 units have also received information technology equipment.

The National Service for Plant Protection, Quarantine and Agro-Chemistry, renamed the National Service for Plant Protection (NSPP), was recognized. The general reduction in the number of staff in autumn 2001 seriously affected the NSPP regional offices.

Since the previous Regular Report, approximation of legislation in the a control system for the use, storage and movement of these p roducts

Bilgeria has transposed Directives relating to the control of potato diseases and made good progress on the adoption of legislation and implementing legislation on phytosanitary control. Further steps have been taken towards development and implementation of quality assurance schemes for phytosanitary control and phytosanitary inspectors have been trained in border inspection.

In the field of registration of plant protection products, a system of internal quality control has been developed and steps taken towards development of a comprehensive Good Experimental Practices scheme.

Amendments to the basic Seeds Law were adopted at the end of Match 2002 and preparation of legislation related to seed and propagation material is currently being further harmonized with EC Directives and international rules. With regard to plant variety registration and seed certification, officials have been trained in field inspection.

As regards food safety, further progress has been made in the adoption of implementing legislation. On food safety standards, progress was made since the last Regular Report. However, most facilities and equipment used by the food processing industry are obvolve and fail to meet the requirements for safety and hygiene of the national legislation.

Overall assessment

In the area of **horizontal measures**, privity should be given to establishing the capabilities to operate CAP support regimes in particular the *Integral Administration and Control System* (IACS). Bulgrain does not yet have a system for the administration and control of payments similar to the IACS, and needs to continue its preparations for the establishment of this to become operational by its target date of 2005. The key registers which the IACS system will be built have been partially ensued. They include the statistical register of agricultural produces and holdings, the alphanumerical system for the identification and registration of an anisels and the identification system for agricultural parcels.

Bilging is at an early stage in the development of Common Market Organisations (CMO). Further progress should be made in the field of implementation of the CMO: for arable corps, sugar, finit and vegetables and animal products (cascase classification and labeling system). In the milk sector in particular, there is a need for a clear strategy and to ensure that all dairy plants expect the regulatory frait

In the wine sector, further work is needed to set up a vineyard register, and to ensure proper control of production potential. In addition grape and wine producers of

Bulgaria has demonstrated an increasing commitment to rural development and has made concrete progress with the implementation of rural development programmes.

As regards land reform, Bulgaria has to continue work for the creation of the national cadaste and property register in order to improve the situation of the land market. Work on consolidation of land needs to be continued.

In the veterinary sector, the National Veterinary Service (NNS) is generally well structured and reliable. Inspectors are well-qualified. The total number of staff in the NNS is 2785 ((58 people for animal health, 898 for public health, 255 for border veterinary control and 227 for laboratory control), including 1 676 veterinarians. Staff of the NNS have neceived training in the area of animal health and public health. However, the needs to be better control of impect or who apply control procedures, especially at the border.

Concerning animal health, the situation in Bulgaria is generally acceptable but there are some shortcomings, for example in certain regions improved supervision of the regional and district level by the central level is require

Concerning animal welfare, further training is needed for official veterinarians. Producers' associations should also be informed of the need to apply animal welfare rules and on enforcement methods.

Regarding animal identification, ngistration and nonement statule, the EUROVET system still needs to cover the whole territory of Bulgaria and loading of data needs to be completed to enable improved surveillance of the epidemiological situation in Bulgaria and allow unrestricted trade of livestock and animal products to recommence with the EU. Identification of all numinants by double plastic ear-tagging should be complete Bulgaria must now guarantee an effective functioning of its registration system supported by an adequate system of controls and stanctions. Special attention should be placed on the registration of animal movements.

Concerning establishments, slaughterhouses are old and equipment needs to be modernised. Procedures are not always followed and controlled.

Bulgaria has established a programme to upgrade the agri-food establishments, including an identification of shortcomings and deadlines to correct them until 2005.

As regards animal wats, significant further efforts are needed. Systems for collection of animal watte need to cover the whole territory of Bulgaria. Collection and processing of risk materials should be done separately. Severe deficiencies remain in rendering plans. While Bulgaria has a feed bar on processed animal proteins, this is not in line with EC requirements and erose contamination of nanimator feed with animal proteins for animant sendering plans. While Bulgaria has a feed bar on processed animal proteins, this is not in line with EC requirements and erose contamination of nanimator feed with animal proteins for animant sendering plans. While Bulgaria has a feed bar on processed animal proteins, this is not in line with EC requirements and erose contamination of nanimator feed with animal proteins for animator feed with animal proteins for animator feed with animal proteins for animator feed with animal proteins.

A system of certification of internal movements is in place for animals and products. However, these documents do not always contain the necessary guarantees to support export certification.

The programme of upgrading of the Veterinary Border Inspection Pows needs to be continued for all 8 long-term Veterinary Border Inspection Pows. Concerning RSE, investigation of RSE epidemiology and use of approved diagnostic methods should be improved. In general, in the field of TSE controls there are still discrepancies compared to the EC system and considerable further efforts are necessary

In the phytosanitary sector, progress on harmonisation with the acquis continues, but the National Service for Plant Protection (NSPP) needs adequate resources to implement it.

Concerning control and certification of seeds and planting material, a number of ordinances still need to be adopted, following the amendments to the basic Seeds Law.

In respect of food safety standards, most EC Directives have been transposed into Bulgarian law but some have not yet entered into force. However, considerable work needs to be done on implementation and enforcement. The various services responsible for food safety have well-qualified staff, but the co-ordination of tasks between the NVS and the Hygiene and Epidemiological Inspectrate and the Chief Directorate of Peoding Stuff. Control should be clarified. Investment is required in the control streve. It is important that training of all staff in many clarified for food safety well and the immediate and the food safety state and the staff. But the co-ordination of tasks between the NVS and the Hygiene and Epidemiological Inspectrate and the Chief Directorate of Peoding Stuff. Control should be clarified. Investment is required in the comparison of outsky have been transposed and in finance realization of the acquire spectra is given a high priority. In food safety sciences, control systems and certifications. The main bodies responsible for food safety sciences in finance realization of outsky have been transposed and in force.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bulgarias had made very limited progress in adapting to the Community aspir and that considerable sustained effort would be needed with regatal to restructuring the agriculture and the agricultural policy to prepare to apply the agricult and program (or establishments) or material program (or establishments) for portering the agricultural and regression of agricultural policy to prepare to apply the agricultural and agricultural forts were needed in relation to: the adoption, implementation and enforce the adoption and control sustained efforts would be needed with regatal to restructuring the agricultural and regression and control to apply the agricultural and agricultural and agricultural and agricultural and agricultural for the agricultural and agricultural agricultural

Negotiations on this chapter continue

Baging non-box to focus further efforts on enforcement or lightition, in particular intervention precision, and and a developing the administrative capacity necessary to administer and enforce the aquis, including reparations for the senting up of the languated Administration and Control System. Bidgets also needs to ensure the functioning of markets. In the dark series or particular function of production and precision. The senting vector is particular function of production and precision. The senting vector is particular function of production and precision. The senting vector is particular function of production and precision. The senting vector is particular function of precision and and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction and precision. The senting vector is particular function of preduction of pred

Progress made since the last Regular Report

Since the last Regular Report, Bulgaria has further progressed towards the adoption and implementation of the Common Fisheries Policy (CFP)

The National Agency for Fisheries and Agenculture (NAFA), which was established in the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, is responsible for the management of commercial and recreasional fisheries in Balgarian waters. The administrative capacity of NAFA has considerably improved with the increase of regional offices from 6 to 27, and the increase of staff from 48 at the beginning of 2001 to 156 in August 2002. The 27 regional offices are responsible for field monitoring, control and surveillance activities.

As regards resource management, inspection and control, the Fisheries and Aquaculture Act introduces the requirements of EC aquit on landing declarations and first sale information. No progress can be reported on the installation of the Vessel Monitoring System.

In the field of structural actions, significant progress was achieved by the finalisation of the creation of the Fishing Vessel Register at the Executive Agency of Maritime Administration (under the Ministry of Transport and Communications) and the training of personnel to operate it.

As regards **market policy**, limited progress can be reported in this field. A feasibility study was prepared, with recommendation As regards **state aid to the fisheries sector**, there are no new developments to report.

the regimes state and to the insucries sector, there are no new developments to report.

Following a decision of the Standing Veterinary Committee in spring 2002, Bulgaria was reincluded in the list of countries that can export fishery products to the European Unio

As regards **international fisheries agreements**, no new de quotas.

Overall assessment

Whilst the administrative capacity of the National Agency for Fisheries and Aquaculture (NAFA) has considerably improved, it still lacks adequate equipment and trained personnel to effectively implement requirements relating to the establishment of a control system applicable to the CFP.

As regards structural actions, adoption of further implementing legislation is still needed to finalise the Fuhar Vessel Reviser. The State Fund for Arriculture has been nominated as the back to manage former aid It will also are so the Devise house for the Object reviser.

On market polycy, further progress will be needed on subprise of marketman legislation and on creation of market and velocies in information system and set up and maintain a system for communication of information with the European Commission.

A Bulgarian Fisheries Association was created to represent marine fishing and processing companies, but there is no collective representation of individual fishermen. Those involved in aquaculture have an informal association.

On veteriary issues, although the situation has generally improved, problems still remain regarding legislation, laboratories, the residue monitoring programme and official supervision. It is important to ensure that steps are taken to introduce an adequate certification procedure for caviar, *inter alia* to avoid potential faud on origin. At present, the NVS is not in a position to guarantee the health status regarding acquiration in the originating in Bulgaria, so efforts are needed to address this.

On structural actions, particular attention needs to be paid to the supply of adequate expiriment and the training of the personnel appointed to manage future aid and to act as the paying agency in compliance with EC structural actions requirement

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the process of modernisation and aquis implementation would require significant efforts. However, it noted that in the medium term the fishery sector did not appear to present a major problem

Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made progress. Considerable further work is needed for the fisheries sector in Bulgaria to achieve compliance with the acquire

Negotiations on this chapter have been provisionally closed. Bulgaria has not requested any transitional arrangements. Bulgaria is generally meeting the commitments it has made in the accession negotiations in this

Progress made since the last Regular Report

As regards **Trans-European Transport Networks**, a number of infrastructure projects are b total cost of projects in this programme is € 4.2 billio which the State budget will fund 31%.

In the land **ransport** scrue, progress was achieved in all areas, In the field of and *transport*, meedmaness to the local Tank of the social and rechtical *aqui* on tachographs, adamissions to be constrained, additional transport as verse adopted by the social and rechtical *aqui* on tachographs, adamissions to the local Tanks of the social and rechtical *aqui* on tachographs, adamission to the constrained for the field of orthic langer and the social transport as verse adopted by the aqui on tachographs, adamission transport as verse adopted by the aqui on tachographs, adamission transport as verse adopted by the aqui on tachographs, adamission transport as verse adopted by the aqui on tachographs, adamission transport as verse adopted by the aqui on tachographs, adamission transport as verse adopted by the aqui on tachographs, adamission transport as verse adopted by the ranked by the end of 2016. As regards reading adoption in January 2012 of the Law on Local Taxes and Fees, and full adjument with the taxation level required by the aqui will be reached by the end of 2016. As regards reading in appendix adoption in January 2012 of the Law on Local Taxes and Fees, and full adjument with the taxation level required by the aqui will be reached by the end of 2016. As regards reading in appendix adoption in January 2012 of the Law on Local Taxes and Fees, and full adjument with the taxation level required by the aqui will be reached by the end of 2016. As regards reading in appendix additional transport. Advect and the four effective additional transport advective advecti

ted, which should stimulate the legal and eco nomic restructuring of Bulgaria's railways, and pa contropises, as well as on the introduction of user charges on tailway infrastructure and a licensi any BDZ was

As regards air transport, Bulgaria is continuing to adopt implementing legislation for the Civil Aviation Act of 1999 and to made significant efforts to impr ove the qualifications of the aviation administration personnel, in particular of inspectors.

as well as pro ng the fra ork for further in

Inspections of Bulgarian flag vessels as well as Port State control inspections are at present carried out by 42 qualified inspectors. According to 2001 statistics under the Paris Mem level close to that of 1998 (19.7%). This compares with an average for EU-flageed vessels of 3.1% in 2001. ian flag vessels detained following Port State control was 15.7%. This is a sharp increase compared wi

Overall assessment

that will be needed in rail and road infrastructure, in pniately. Co-financing for the ambitious \in 4.2 billion As regards Trans-European Transpean Transpean Transpean Networks, the Bulgarian authorities place the main emphasis on further moderination and development of printing transpean infrastructure along the TDNA considers. Special emphasis schoold be given to seasure the necessary administrative capacity (both in qualitative ad quantative sequence) that the season of the moderination and development of printing transpean infrastructure along the TDNA considers. Special emphasis schoold be given to seasure the necessary administrative capacity (both in qualitative ad quantative sequence) that the season of the season of the season of the development of printing transpean infrastructure upgrading, the ability of the Bulgarian transports to implement several projects simultaneously could be a matter of concern if administrative regarding the school transport to the season of the

ingland de instantation of monographic pulgaria should prepare operators for the major inv incentents. Bulgaria still has to ratify the INTERBUS Agreement on the international occu which they will need to make to ensure con mage of passengers by coach and bus. tion and road user charges ort fleet is still far from m In the railway sector, Bulgaria has also made good progress, not only in aligning its legisla railway administration, the im plementation of an efficient and fair rail infrastructure chan

sed detention rates as a result of Post State control are deterionning, accentuating the gap compared with the average for EU-flagged vessely. This has placed the Bulgarian Flag back on the black list of the Screttariat of the Paris Memorandum of Understanding on the safety administrative institutions, findly as a Flag State, and then as a Port State, must be a priority. Increased co-onfination between the different levels of the relevant authorities is necessary. Alignment with EC legislation on marine safety and prevention of bio-schedule.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bidgata had made progress with implementation of the existing Community legislation on transport, but that rapid alignment was necessary and that in this respect, matrixine, air and road freight sectors posed the most potential problems, particularly rail, implementation of the existing Community legislation in practice still had to be monitored. Bidginata had needed to make sum that the essures necessary is in the foundation for extension of the existing Community legislation on transport, but that rapid alignment was necessary and that in this respect, matrixine, air and road freight sectors posed the most potential problems, particularly rail, implementation of the existing Community legislation on the transport, but that would also be necessary and that in this respect, matrixine, air and road freight sectors posed the most potential problems, particularly on states. In the foundation for extension of the existing Community legislation on the transport, but that would also be necessary and that in this respect, matrixing in the road network and the consequences of implementation of the existing Community legislation on the respect and road freight sectors posed the most potential problems, particularly on states. In the consequences of implementation of the existing Community legislation on the respect and road also be necessary and that in this respect, matrixing in the road network and the consequences of implementation of the existing Community legislation on the respect and road freight sectors. The commission added that it would also be necessary and that in this respect, matrixing in the road network is the respect as a stransport sectors. The commission added that it would also be necessary and that in this respect, matrixing and respect to the stransport sectors. The commission added that it would also be necessary and that in this respect to the stransport sectors. The community legislation is a stransport sector sector sector sector sector sector

Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made steady overall progress, in particular in the fields of road and railway transpo

buging budgets for a investment, on the implementation of the freed and vesial/relational again in the road sector, on the further flow freed and the implementation of the again in the road vesial relation and mattering sectors guarantees their independence. The the relations will require sector again in the road vesial relation and mattering sectors guarantees their independence. The the relation will require sector again and implementation of the investment plane.

Progress made since the last Regular Report

nce the last Regular Report, Bulgaria has made further progress in aligning its legislation with the aquit. The reform of Bulgaria's tax admin

on, amendments to the Value Added Tax Law entered into force in January 2002. The amendments introduce the standard VAT rate on the supply of pi tical products and a special scheme for ti

rember 2001 the Excise Tax Law was amended, further aligning legislation in the area of excise duty. In particular, Bulgaria fully harmonised the scope of excise dut on heer introduced a unifo n rate per hectolitre degree Plato and introduced excise duties

ome tax passed in December 2001 introd In the area of direct taxat

Since hst year's Regular Report, Ettle progress has been made with reforming and strengthening Bulgaria's tax administration, besides some changes in the top management. Little progress has been m of Ministers in relation to taxation. In the area of tax the term for the repayment of the VAT credit was reduced from 4 months to 45 days for entities using the newly introduced VAT account system.

Overall assessment

er alignment is still needed in the area of VAT, in pa with regard to special sel

As regards direct taxation, legislation will have to be reviewed in order to eli operation and mutual assistance. Significant further efforts are needed to strengthen the tax administration. Bulgaria should develop an updated business lack of human resources in the tax policy directorate and from a lack of staff with relevant experience in modern human administration and approve other linked strategies, such as audit strategies and the creation of a unified National Revenue Agency. Moreover, Bulgaria needs to imp ent to drive the necessary changes. Further efforts are needed to establish a strong change management structure to guide, structure and support the change process

Ensuring that the computerised tax information system is fu priority to improving administrative capacity in thi s area.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the administration developed its expertise in this respect.

Since the Opinion, and especially over the last two acquis.

Negotiations in this chapter have been provident and a second sec

Progress made since the last Regular Report

A detailed assessment of the various aspects of Bulgaria's economic policy has been given above, in the Chapter discussing the economic criteria (B-2). Therefore, the present section is lir financing by the central bank, the prohibition of privileged access of the public sector to financial institutions, and the independence of the national central bank. As to the process of liber ed to a discussion of those aspects of the Economic and Monetary Union Auguir – as defined by Title VII of the EC. Treaty and the other relevant texts – which candidate countries ation of capital movements, upon the completion of which compliance with the EMU again is conditional, this aspect has been covered above, in the section on Clapter 4 – Fire more the last Regular Reg

Overall assessment

ria will participate in EMU u

In the area of central bank inc

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that it was premature to judge whether Bulgaria would be in a position, by the time of its accession, to participate in the Euro area. The Commission also conclud a market conomy. The C ion considered that it was therefore hard to evaluate when Bulgaria, after the eventual cessation of the currency board arrangement, would be able to have an independent Central Bank. ent with the EMU-rels

was initially slow, but major steps forward have been taken over the past few years, and Bulgaria ha

ent along the lines se

Progress made since the last Regular Report

ands statistical infrastructure, there were no recent change

ons, there have been no significant changes since the last Regular Repor

ographic and social statistics, further progress has been made since the last Re ards availability of statistics at regional level, there has been an increase in the number of indicators available at levels 2 and 3 under the Nomenclature of Territorial Units for Statistics (NUTS 2 and 3).

In the field of macront in the exhaustiveness and timeliness of national accounts can be reported. The development of the financial account has now started in close co-o

sed Consumer Price Index is now largely complia vith EC s

out statistics, many areas like road transport of goods and air and port statistics are now in line with the aqu

mal trade, work is under way to improve the quality of primary data involving co-operation between the Customs Agency and the National Statistical Inst tries and has started preparing for INTRASTAT, of data on trade flows with other cou For agricultural statistics, during the past year, Bulgaria h

Overall assessment

Bulgaria's statistical infrastructure, the legal basis for sta

er of qualified staff has slowed the page of p

The NSI is still responsible for s

Particular efforts are required to developed further.

The creation of information techn

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Co uded that Bulgaria would need to make a sustained effort if it was to comply with EU req

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on strengt

Progress made since the last Regular Report

ss has been made in this area since the last Regular Report

ning labour law, the Employment Promotion Act, which entered into force in January 2002, further aligns Buls

agh the Employment Promotion Act, the General Labour Inspectorate has been str

In the area of **public health**, a National Health Strategy for 2001–2006 was adopted in 2001 and a national programme for the rest May 2002. A number of contractual relationships between the nal Health Insurance Fund and providers of medical services were co In the area of social dialogue, regional councils for injuritie co-spectrulo are ensuines runn and promates of method leaves were condulated. In the area of social dialogue, regional councils for injurities co-spectrulo are ensuing and a legalistica adapted in Necenber 2011. The E Employment Counstites in the framework of Datrice Region al Development Councils. The law simplates that regional employment pro on Social Co-operation.

and the Linequent Generation have continued the work on the **Employment Policy** Review, with a view to funding the Joint Asset and tasks in the field follower marker for the pre-accession period. The situation on the bloor marker tensis difficult with the high an apport entrepresensible and job centation. In January 2002, through the Employment Promotion Act, the former National Employment similaries and useding interset, the 2002 Saturd Action Plane or Employment Promotion Act, the former National Employment similaries and useding interset, the 2002 Saturd Action Plane or Employment with application of the similaries and useding and a field and the similar of the similar distribution of the similarity of the similarity of the similarity of the similarity of the similar distribution of the similarity of the sim Bulgaria in adapting its employment system for preparing its future participation in the European Employment Strate was 20.8% and 18.9% for women in 2001. The high and increasing share of long-term unemployed at 65% is of great d

ent of the Eu

As a follow-up to the Gothenburg European Council, where the EU invited the candidate countries to translate the EU objective context, the Statistical Office of Bulgaria co- operates with Eurostat to produce data on poverty and social exclusion. Preliminary nd Bulgaria have initiated a joint co-operation exercise to prepare for future participati sem to be rather moderate and the poverty rate after social transfers (9.2%) rather low. As regards other areas of social protection, some measures have been taken to further implement a three-pillar pension system. In Ja more appropriately. Amendments to the Act on protection, rehabilit ation and social integration of disabled people were adopted in De 20 to 25%. The Act on Family Allowances adopted in March 2002 repealed the outdated Birth Prom gration (a consultative body with the Council of Ministers) and to define the conditions for award of t share of social security contributions to be paid by employees fi embership of the National Council on Rehabilitation and Social

No progress has been made in adopting general **anti-discrimination** legislation, however the Er and/or physical condition are essential factors for performing a particular type of job.

Overall assessment

Regarding health and safety at work, both by the Government and by com lerable work remains with regard to transport s to comply with the *aunit* in this area, an a rd to public health, current legislation in the field also well below the EU average and would need t

and the share of unemployed people involved in v ocational training program her efforts need to be made to strengthen and modernise the Public Employe Structural Funds, which was adopted in May 2002, the Ministry of Lab The Ministry of Labour also needs to ensure appropriate complementa

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that compatibility with EC standards was alignment and the application of the *acquis* before Bulgaria would be able to take on the ob

Progress made since the last Regular Report

dopted by the Parliament in July 2002. This lays do

of supply and the

mpetitiveness and the internal energy market, ame for power, natural gas and heating were adopted in De population of tariff proposals submitted by companies in ments to the Law on Energy and Energy Efficiency were adopted in No nber 2001. This provides a regulatory framework for the transition from per 2001, laying the basis for legislative alignment. Ordinances on the definition of eligible customers, for both electricity and gas, were adopted in April 2002, as was imp inistrative pricing of energy to standard price regulation, which is being carried out this year. The State Energy Regulatory Commission (SERC) has now formally taken ov

was created in December 2001, replacing the former State Agency for Energy and Energy Resources (SAEER). The State Energy Efficiency Agency (SEEA) was subseque nies. The SERC, since the beginning of 2002, also has the leading role in fixing prices and tariffs for power, natural gas and beating. As far as the strengthening of its im ttached to the Ministry and tr dence is concerned, there has rgy Regulatory Commission (SERC)'s main task since its lget and now are directly paid to the SERC through the ative capacity, a Ministry of Energy and Energy Resource or 1999 has been to issue licences to ope power com SERC currently has 77 employees of the planned 92

6, Bulgaria has continued to make progress on improving the l latory authority and re gulatory control. Through this law, the sinted for a 5-year mandate and for a maximum of two mandat

of U nits 1 and 2, wh the EBRD

In the reporting period, Kozloduy NPP continued its programme of investments on Units 3 and 4, notably with the installation Units 5 and 6 are continuing with the support of the European Union. Two parts of the Euratom loan of \notin 212.5 million for the

Overall assessment

As regards *oil stocks*, Bulgaria needs urgently to adopt a framework law for alignment with the *auquit*, given been introduced. However, it is still not yet legally possible for eligible customers to switch supplier and the

iency in Bulgaria remains extremely low. Price modifications should be an incentive for consu ency, energy savings and the use of r le energy sources. The Energy Efficiency Agency has no The European Union has repeatedly emphasised the import radioactive waste, and on the safety of their research reactors

first half of 2002, a special Peer Review on nuclear safety lations have been adequately addressed. Bulgaria should dev to five recommendations, regarding the provision of adequa uncil resulted in a Status Report, published in June 2002, ible the new Law on the Safe Use of Nuclear Energy which

Units 1 to 4 of the Kozloday Nuclear Power Plant are subject to early closure commitments. They have a number of deviations from safety requirements due to their original energy strategy which will be completed in 2002, on the dates of the definitive closure of Units 3 and 4, which will be before the initially envisaged dates of 2008 and 2010 resp greed and committed itself, in an Understanding sig of Units 3 and 4 will take place in 2006 at the latest.

One important development in Bulgaria's progress on improving the m implementation of the new action plan to increase the author ndence and

Bulgaria will need to ensure complianc Safeguards Agreement with the IAEA.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Corr efficiency. Bulgaria had to imp Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made only limited progress, due to the absence of restructuring and a stree industry, including privatisation of the di stribution companies. Restructuring of the solid fuel sectors is pr ed policy in the sector until the year 2001. Sin

Bulgaria should now focus its further efforts on further implementity NPP. Concrete measures to improve energy efficiency, and strength ing and refining its overall energy policy, as a first step to full and t

Progress made since the last Regular Report

t Regular Report, Bi

As regards industrial strategy, the government presented in March 2002 a policy document entitled "Industry 2002". policy principles, the Ministry of Economy iso identified branches that are considered particularly promising as regards

tion in GDP re hed 17.8%. In 2002,

In 2001 the real growth rate of fixed capital formation was 19.9% and the share of gross fixed capital forma procedures after the adoption of a new Law on Privati ost Privatisation Control in April 2002 – only became

structuring of the steel industry remains incomplete. The authorities have asked for an exter ing state aid rules in this respect, notably the write-off of debts and payment arrears to public of the grace period as laid de ties (see also chatter 6 – Comtetia

Overall assessment

Bulgaria should continue its efforts to seek participation of the business community and the financial sector in policy functioning structure to furthe r integrate the business community in the policy-making process should be further enco

The central body responsible for the formulation and co-ordination of industrial policy is the Ministry of Economy. Th Agency, the Foreign Investment Agency, the Bulgarian Trad e Promotion Agency and the Bulgarian Export Insurance should strengthen its role as co-ordinator and delevate tasks for immedmentation to the agencies' involved The development of business associations and their top-level organiss can only be encouraged but should also be reflected at the level of first

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the integration into the Ea situation, which restricted the bank ing system's capacity to provide capital.

and Bul

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on the speedy completion of privatisation, the restructuring process of some remaining important industrial sectors, such as steel, attracting foreign capital i Market. Great care will have to be taken that the policy of restructuring is implemented in a manner which conforms to the competition and state aid *aspirs* so as to create efficient competitive firm

Progress made since the last Regular Report

ast Regular Report, Bulgaria has made further progress in the imp

As regards **SME policy**, in March 2002 the government adopted a new National Strategy for Promotion document in the field of enterprise policy within the socio-economic s trategy set up at the Lisbon Europe siness environment. In April 2002, Bulgaria ean Charter in Bulgaria started in May 2002. Bulgaria has made further progress with the improvement of the business environment. The concept of "one-stop-i task force, which examined 360 licensing, permit and regi stration regimes, to remove 74 and simplify a further 120 reg cts have been established. Co-ordinated efforts at governi

Access to finance remains an important obstacle to the development of SMEs in Bulgaria. However, th including state guarantees for bank loans, but these are still in the inception phase and the number of bee s to increased competition among a growing credits due to remaining difficulties in getting

try of Econ

Overall assessment

larly negative effect on SMEs). There is a need to tighten law sed. Further efforts are still needed to improve information to

have often limited impact on the bus support to companies.

The absence of solid business organisations representing the interests of smaller businesses remains a from systematic consultation among public and non-governmenta l structures representing SME inter

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the basic structures for SMEs were in place in Bulga environment and develop SMEs' acces s to financing.

e the Opinion, Bulgaria has made good prog

this chapter are provisionally closed. Bulgaria has not requested any transitional arra

Progress since the last Regular Report

In 2001, a National Framework for the development of science and research was adopted. This aims into alia at an annual g adopted with a view to increasing participation by SMEs i nee-related activities. Since the last Regular Report, Bulgaria has continued to be associated with the Fifth EC Framework Programme, as well as with the Fifth inew materials, "Bulgarian society – part of Europe" an ic research. The programmes are co-ordinated by the National Council on Scientific Re

Overall assessment

The famework for co-operation in the field of science and technology (including National Gostnet Points) continues to be well established. However, in the absence of an effective policy maker for this sector, an overall strategy for scientific research and technology induced policy and the strategy in the distance of an effective policy maker for this sector, an overall strategy for scientific research and technology induced policy and the strategy in the distance of an effective policy maker for this sector, an overall strategy for scientific research and technological development could be a positive step, powided that it is implemented. Though science is indicated as one pointy in the G handle been addressed in the interaction of the science development resolution be interactioned. The final been addressed in the interaction of the science development resolution of the science development re ing a law for the promotion of research or legislation on high-tech park activities, have be

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Co ive at European level w uld need greater efforts. It added, h

owth of 0.15% of GERD/GDP

ats it has made in the ad

Bulgaria should now focus efforts on further reinforcement of research-related add on of Bulgaria with the relevant Framework Progr

Progress made since the last Regular Report

ther progress has been made in this area since the last Regular Re

Bulgaria continued to participate in the second generation of the Leonardo da Vinci and Socrates Com

pris has made little progress with reforming its education and training system. A Law on Employment Promotion entered into force in January 2002 (*in: dio Chapter 13-Social policy and anployment*). This law prodees, which will now be done by the National Agency for Vocational Education and Pranting, instead of the Ministry of Labour. New implementing legislation dealing with entry to general education and prantion and non-traino and monitoring and to address the produces for the scondary school system.

Concerning vocational education and training, a fifth year for all types of professional schools was introduced and programmes for the general state requirements for a number of professions. The Ministry of Education and Science was involved in the consultation process on the European Commission's Memorandum on Lifelong Learning

Overall assessment

While Bulgaria's participation in Community programmes is basically satisfactory, more efforts should be devoted to respecting the financial obligations arising from its participation in the Community programme largely in line with the require set out in the Directive concerning education of children of migrant workers, further efforts are necessary to ensure this Directive can be effectively implemented. the recommendations in the last Regular Report on the columnia and training system are cell tails? For example, it is still recompt to function columnia columnia and training system at regional level (in a bin a haddwood) which hadron random is a which maintain and projectal levels, would cold on the analyses and discussion of Hostward trained and training system at regional level ather. The opposity of the Appenp for Vocational Education and Training, which is responsible *inter alls* for acree ditations and licensing in the areas of vocational education, is still limited and needs to be intergeneed as the columnia function column.

A major challenge will be to ensure the best possible network of secondary schools, including ad

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that, in the perspective of accession, no major problems should be expected in these fields.

Since the Opinion, the process of bringing Bulgaria's leg and structures into line with the aquis has generally developed

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on im the labour market.

Progress made since the last Regular Report

Bulgaria has made some progress since the last Regular Report in terms of both liberalisation of the tele

As regards the **liberalisation of the telecommunications market**, the Communications Regulation Commission has taken messures to enhance its capacity with a view to th leased lines from January 2003, and which outlines the concept for the dev elopment of a fully liberalised telecommunications market.

ons Act adopted in December 2001 aim at e ancing the regulatory framework. In line with this, in Fe

The National (Radio) Frequency Plan was approved by the Government in May 2002. This provides for the comprehensive release of frequency bands for GSM, DECT and S-PCS.

In the area of the information society, rules for the structure of the Information and Communications Technology Development Agency were adopted in February 2002. Bulgaria pr ent of information society service

eming postal services, amer nts to the Postal Services Act were adopted in December 2001 and entered into force in February 2002. The re-

Overall assessment

Through amendments to the Telecommunications Law adopted in December 2001, a more effective sepa with implementation of the telecommunications regulato ry framework (excluding spectrum management)

The power of the Communications Regulation Commission to resolve disputes was enhanced compared to its prodecessor and the exercise to be provided under an automation agrine were estended. Howevere, the engratory of the regulatory enders to be tended on the interainty estimation, skings into account that the interainty estimation is a solved and the interainty estimation.

Penetration of mobile services has reached 16%. There are two GSM operators but UMTS licences have yet to be issued. Fixed network penetration reached 37% and is static. Network n isly delayed and price rebalan

to meet spectrum monitoring needs across the whole country.

ria has not yet been able to evaluate the economic implications of fully imple nting the universal service associate as to achieve affordability and a decision on this n

In the area of postal services, the regulatory framework for postal services seems weak and the quality of service in the postal sector is limited. Work for licensing and registration has started (one license to ensure the supply of the universal service at the appropriate level of quality if full liberalisation takes place in 2003, i.e. before the NRA becomes fully independent

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bulgaria would have difficulties in adopting the EU model of teles restructuring, aiming in particular at improving the commercial flexibility of the company.

Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made some prop

ons in this chapter have been provisionally closed. Bulgaria has been granted a transitional arrangement (until 31 December 2008) regarding the impleme

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on completing tr ary 2003. Particula ith SMP, appli a of the principle of cos a of the Ref ion of the acquis and

Progress made since the last Regular Report

Bulgaria has made some progress since last year's Regular Report

nts to the Law on Radio and Television entered into force in November 2001 aiming at further transposing the **audio-visual** aquit. These were intended to strengthen the regulatory body in this sector and to strea decessor, the Council for Electronic Media is an independent specialised body. It regulates radio and television activity through the registration and issuing of lectres and concrises supervision to ensure that the acti of has been increased by around 15%.

ndum of Understanding, providing for Bulgaria's participation in the Media Plus and Media Training Corr es, was signed in July 2002 taking effect from Jan nity progr In the field of culture, the Asso ing Bulgaria to participate fully in the "Cu

Overall assessment

duction of a single licensing procedure. The introduction of a new registration regime can be seen as a step to entation through the int

c Media's administrative capacity to deal with m Bulgaria is party to the Council of Europe Convention on Transfrontier Television and its amending Protocol

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Co

Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made significant progress, particularly through the adoption in 2000 of a Law amending the 1998 Law on Radio and Television, as a result of which Bulgarian legislation in this area has achieved a high de ssion negotiations in this field

ons on this chapter have been provisionally closed. Bulgaria has not requested any transitional arrangements in this area. It is generally meeting the

NITTS

Progress made since the last Regular Report

Bulgaria has made some progress in this area since the last Regular Report in prep

As regards the legislative framework, the Council of Ministers passed a regulation as

Following the adoption of the Strategy for Structural Funds, the envisaged **institutional structure** for Structural Funds assistance was durified. The Ministry of Finance will be the authority responsible for the co-ordination of programming of Structural Funds assistance. In addition, it will become the Managing Authority for the Community Support programmes (OP) are envisaged, mandy a Regional OP (to be man aged by Ministry of Regional Development), an OP on Competinivity of Bulgarian Industry (to be managed by Ministry of Lalour). The Fund will be the Ministry of Finance Development (managed by Ministry of Lalour) and an OP on Rural Development (managed by Ministry of Adjurian Industry (to be managed by Ministry of Lalour). The Fund will be the Ministry of Finance Development (managed by Ministry of Lalour).

In March 2002, a new department of programming and co-ordination was established wi Ministry of Regional Developments and district authorities.

As regardly programming, the Stratege charing charing

Overall assessment

NUTS ID. Mor Bulgaria has started to design the necessary institutional stu-managing and puring authorities. Inter-ministerial co-ordin ctures for the implementation of the Structural Funds and the Cohes

Appropriate systems of financial management and control need to be esta and flexibility required for the implementation of tural Funds programmes

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that Bulgaria's adminis of appropriate counterpars, before Bulgaria would be able to apply Corr

Progress since the last Regular Report

last Regular Report, Bul

rironment into other policies has been made in areas such as a

ent, a regulation on end-of-life vehicles was adopted

iter quality, pro

In the field of **nature protection**, the Law on Biological Div groups in the area, including at local level.

ols industrial pollution control and risk

etically modified organisms, the schedule for transposing EC legislation by the end of 2001 was not respected

ade with the adoption in July 2002 of imp

Overall assessment

on to legislative alig

Bulgaria's administrative capacity to implement the *acquis* requires close attention relevant funding for this purpose is forese the 2003 Budget Law. Moreover, furth

Significant improved.

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that full transposition of the environm consistent emphasis on environmenta lissues. It noted, however, that effective complian , if the development of a compre-

Bulgaria should now focus its efforts in particular on environmental impact assessment, waste management, nature pro capacity, especially at regional and local level. In addition, the fact that environmental considerations are not often thor all environment sectors, while continuing progress with transposition...

Progress made since the last Regular Report

Little progress has been mude in further developing a functioning market surveillance mechanism. Some measures were taken to strengthen the add Some training has been provided to staff of the Consumer Protection Depa rument and the CICP in the Ministry of Economy, to consumer protection Ecorope. capacity of the Commission for Trade an its within municipalities and to consumer

Three new consumer associations were founded, including the Bulgarian Acaa they provide advice and information to consumers, organise seminars on con sgned between the CTCP and consumer associations.

Overall assessment

Though compre-product liability. sive legislation in this fiel

and 28 dis The lack of a clear concept on consumer policy, demonstrated, inter alia, by little activity on the part of either the M supervises the general safety of products apart from those products where special legislation to regulate safety requires istry of Economy as the policy-maker in this field, or the National Council on Consumer Protection nts exist. The CTCP should have a more proactive role in promoting the importance of product safety

lance, as well as with consumer NGOs, further co-ordination between the CTCP and testing of the safety-related characteristics of products should be further developed. Though some efforts have been made in co-ordinating the activities of the CTCP with other insti in type and quantity in order to include more products falling under the coverage of EC acquir on

Conclusion

In its 1997 efforts.

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on continuing alignment of le should further integrate consumer concerns into other poli cy areas

Progress since the last Regular Report

Significant progress can be reported in the area of data protection. The new law on p adoption of the Law on Protection of Classified Information. The Gov ernment also ap With th equipm

An action plan for the adoption of **Schengen** requiren element of the future strategy for integrat ed border ma ents was approved in November 2001. It defines agement. Progress has been made with demilitari

Bulgaria adopted a new law on as

in September 2002, Bulgaria made further progre criminal group" an d new penalties for the establis d in the Penal Code are computed.

fight against fraud and corruption is concerned (see also Section B.1.1. - Democrue) and publicly in the private sect or, passive bribery of foreign public officials, bribery of ark and investigators. Finally, non-material benefits were included in the subject of bribery

The adoption of a national **drugs** strategy in September 2002 by the National Drugs Council repre capacity of the council is weak and co-ordination of tasks remains a difficult issue. In March 2002, B

as co-operation, in July 2002 the National Assembly adopted amendm

Some progress has been registered in the field of judicial co-operation in civil and criminal matters. In October 2001, Balgaria ratified b the Conversion on the Transfer of Sentenced Persons, and the European Convention on Estrafation and the two Additional Protocols. Bu created many practical difficulties, sepecially in criminal procedures where estrafation was requested. al Matters and the Additional P of the Council of Europe. This

Overall assessment

fully algoed with the EU visu obligations list with regard to rationals of the Federal Republic of Yagoslavia, PYROM and Tunisia. Moreover, it is not yet fully algoed with the EU visu-free travel list. For 22 South and Latin American states, there is sull no visu free regime. Although the security features of the new Bulgatan visu sticker meet very high sta offices. EEDers to equip all deformatic and consult missions with devices to detect forged or fabilited documents should be strengthened, with special priority given to high-field constraints. In order to better combat illegal migration, Bulgaria should limit the number of countries whose holders of diplomatic and service passports are exempted from the visa transit with the EU visa.

alignment for, *inter alia*, the differentiation and staff along the borders and a sea sur-ment of an operational interface to SIS II

the fight against fraud and corruption (see also Section B.1.1 - Democracy aria has achieved part of the objec tives of the programme for the implet ed for the fight against **drugs** and drug trafficking, Bul es. The National Focal P oint to participate in the Euro difficult. Bulgaria should as soon as possible elaborate an action plan for the implementation ing the administrative capacity of the National Drugs Council and make a major effort to im

1995 Convention on the use of information technology for customs purposes. Further alignment with the acquisis needed as regards controlled Austria, Azerbaijan, FYROM, Greece, Iran, Mongolia, Romania, the Russian Federation, Turkey, the United Kangdom, Ukraine, the USA and the y and the fight against corruption in this sector, Budgaria has launched an in-depth reform of the Customs Agency (*use allo Chapter 25 - Customs Uning*).

includ take rurther measures to ensure imprementation ide are necessary in order to accede to and i mplement vidence. It should also ratify the Council of Europe Co

Bulgaria is a party to all **human rig**

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that it would be difficult to meet the aquis req

Since the Opinion, Bulgaria has made substantial progress in strengthening the relevant ir to further strengthen the administrative capacity in this area.

ing. Bulgaria has not requested any tr is on this chapter are co

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on substantially strengthening the capacity of its judiciary and law enfi laundering) should continue.

Progress made since the last Regular Report

nce last year's Regular Report, Bulgaria has made some progress in this field.

As regards alignment of Bulgaria's legislation with the customs acquis, no new d

The 2002 customs tariff adopted by Bulgaria is in compliance with the changes to the Harmonised System and Combined Nomenclature for 2002. It also includes the cha eming administrative and operational capacity to implement the *aspiti*, changes in the senior management of 1 istrative capacity, there was little progress until March 2002, since then, the situation has improved and impleme ving the efficient collection of customs duties and colers state receivables within the competence of the National Ci nt of the National Customs Agency took place in February plementation of the reforms is progressing. The updated Bi snal Customs Agency, and (rv) implementing the state custor nt on the reform of customs. As regards strengthening of tion, economic operators, trade sector and the public, (m)

oms Agency adopted a strategy for the rationa ons in May 2002. The detailed plan of ac

beginning of 2002, admin

An updated IT Strategy has been developed, but a six-month delay has accumulated in the developn arated Customs Information System (BICIS)

Overall assessment

The adoption of the Integrated Customs Tariff for 2002 int ducing the changes to the EC Combined Ne

The adoption of the national strategy against cor tion and the programme for its im n reform in the Customs Agency" shows a signific

The development of the Bulgarian Integrated Customs Information System (BICIS), which had previo usly been progressing well, suffered as a result of staffing, organisational and financial problems related to the dev

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that the Bulgarian Cus administration within the next few years.

nce the Opinion, Bulgaria has made steady progress achieving a high degree of legislative alignment, but pr

ns on this chapter have been provisionally closed. Bulgaria has not re

rative and operational capacity to implement the aquit. Bulgaria needs in particular to focus on further alignment with the Community customs aquit, strengthening information technology and human resource policy, as well as on completing major projects or and ensure it has a stable and professional body of staff and management. The percentage of staff with divid servant status should increase to align the Customs Agency with best practice in EU Member States. Bulgaria also needs to prepare for the application of Bulgaria should focus further efforts on continued implementation of the business strategy, which is of great importance with a view to ensuring the r revenue collection, transit control and risk analysis. Moreover, in order to complete customs reform, Bulgaria needs to improve human resource manag measures and provisions that will be introduced only at the inno of accession.

Progress made since the last Regular Report

mmercial policy, upon accession Bulgaria will be required to align its tariffs with those of the EC. Bulga As regards the commo industrial products.

With regard to the acquis in the area of dual-use goods, the Bill on amendment of the Law on Control on

As regards bilateral agreements with third countries, Free Trade Agreements with Israel and Lithuania entered into force in 2002. Bulgari of Understanding on trade liberalisation, according to which a network of bilateral free trade agreements should be concluded between all sign ted negotiations with the Federal Republic of Yugoslavia (FRY) and FYROM, in line wi nt on Trade and Economic. Scientific and Technical Co-operation with the Russian Fede Within CEFTA, Bulgaria signed the Additional Protocol No. 10 relating to the li operate with Non-Governmental Organisations esta blished in Bulgaria.

Overall assessment

The EU and Balgaria have established a framework for co-operation regarding WTO issues at both ministerial and departmental level. Bulgaria member of the WTO plunlateral agreement on trade in Gvil Atrenaft and an observer to the WTO plunlateral agreement on Government Pro the hird stage of integration under the ATC to align Bulgaria's integration programmes with those of the IC. ion for and the launching of the Doha Development Agenda. This close co-operation should continue. Bulgaria is a signatory to the Ini nts with the ECs commitments and MFN exemptions. With regard to the WTO Agreement on Trade in Textiles and Clothing (ATC),

With regard to the *aquit* in the area of dual-use goods, a higher degree of legislative alignment has been achieved with th and has developed bilateral contacts with th e EU Member States to exchange best practices on export control issues.

In addition to its bilateral free trade agreements with Groatia, Estonia, Israel, Latvia and Lithuania, Bulgania is a member of CEFTA. Bulgania ne concluded with third countries that are incompatible with future obligations as an EU Member State. Decisive steps are needed, as a matter of urg are that the Union is kept fully informed both about existing trade agreements and about any negotiations aimed at the conclusion of the new trade ring blateral investment treaties into conformity with the Treaty obligations. Failure to do so will mean that the conflict between the bilateral investm

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opinion, the O ould be able to meet Co

Bulgaria should focus further efforts on finishing the pre-

Progress since the last Regular Report

ign and security policy in line with that of the Europea

The regular political dialogue established by the Association Agreement with Bulgaria is proceeding smoothly and Bulgaria has played a co

Bulgaria has shown a keen interest in continuing its active participation in the development of the European Security and Defence Policy (ESDP). It has taken part in exchanges on this subject in the EU + 15 for

nment with EU statements and declarations, Bulgaria has regularly aligned its positions with those of the Union and, when in

Since the 2001 Regular Report, progress has been made with the adoption of the necessary legislative framework for effective participation in the CFSP. Bulgaria has confirmed its willingness to adopt the entire CFSP as September and with four Common Positions on combuting terrorism. It has ratified all international convertions relating to terrorism.

ession to the EU).

Bulgaria has continued to comply with international sanctions and restrictive measures imposed by the UN and the EU.

The Law on Amendment and Supplement to the Foreign Trade with sum and with dual-purpose goods and technologies Act was adopted by 100. The law introduced a list of dual-use goods identical to the UL list adopted in 2010 During the reporting per participant of the Capabilities Tradyovenetic Conference Towards and Herzagovina. s of UN, KFOR, SI

Overall assessment

Bulgaria continues to participate in regional cooperation schemes, such as the trilateral cooperation established with Greece and Romania, Ro Security Cooperation Steering Group (SEEGRO UP). Relations with most neighbours remain good or have even improved (Romania, FRY).

nt and principles contained in the EU Code of Conduct on Arms Export

t the provisions relating to the CFSP, the Bulgarian Ministry of Fo

Conclusion

cluded that Bulgaria was well placed to effectively fulfil its oblig in this field. In its 1997 Opinion, the Co

e the Opinion, Bulgaria has made steady progress in aligning with the CFSP acquis, and its alignment is in ger

onally closed. Bulgaria has not re

Bulgaria should focus its further efforts on ensuring that its foreign policy orientation remains in line with the Union's d positions in international fora and should ensure that all sanctions and restrictive measures can be duly implemented.

Progress since the last Regular Report

As regards public internal financial control, a new Public Internal Financial Control (PIFC) law came into effect at the beginning of 2001. Since the with the Commission - giving direction for the short term and intermediate future of Hughran PIFC policies. In August 2020 the Council of Minis control function will be moved from the PIFC August or a newly established financial control function used the responsibilities of the Heads of the y year. In July 2002, the Bulgarian authomuse setabusned a counce under one of liance with the recommendations of the updated Policy Paper. Under these am ing internal auditors in most, but not yet all budget spending centres. s PIFC policies. This Council has approved the latest version of the PIFC Policy Paper of 2000 - as agreed of the Head of the PIFC Agency will be satisfactorily established. Responsibility for the ex ante financial ters adopted the first series of amendments to the PIFC Act in comp rational budget spending agencies. The PIFC Agency has started pla

s external audit, progress has been audit standards and internal regular ne necessary steps to start up the EDIS process, ed reasonably well in its first year. The National

With regard to control of structural action expenditure, a programme of institution-building is under way and ai Good progress has been made with regard to establishing a marage ment and control system in particular the establ Audie Office Are stablishes an audit trail on EG (made and the NAO has a special unit to audit EG (mades. In mid-2 In the field of protecting EC financial i

Overall assessment

The adoption of the Public Internal Funzcial Control Law constitutes an important step towards the establishment of the legal basis for adequate public internal financial control. However, further amendments are still required to implement the Strategy Paper and the Operational Plan for the PIFC Agency. Bulgaria also needs to improve the secondary legislation and adopt territory regulations on man and control Systems and intern al audit, make traits, the adult charter and the Code of Ethics. Bulgaria further needs to strengthen the administrative capacity of the PIIC Agency distributions and further develop statiantible training facilities for internal auditors. There is a need for further sustained and determined efforts to implement the new legalative framework and to ensure that the PIIC. Agency distributions and further develop statiantible training facilities for internal auditors. There is a need for further sustained efforts to implement the new legalative framework and to ensure that the PIIC. Agency distributions and further develop statiantible training facilities for internal auditors. There is a need for further sustained efforts to implement the new legalative framework and to ensure that the PIIC. Agency distributions and further develop statiantible training facilities for internal auditors. There is a need for further sustained efforts to implement the new legalative framework and to ensure that the PIIC. Agency distributions and further model functions and training facilities for internal auditors. There is a need for further sustained efforts to implement the new legalative framework and to ensure that the PIIC. Agency distributions and further need for further sustained efforts to implement the new legalative framework and to ensure that the PIIC. Agency distribution for the PIIC agency distributi

Concerning external audit, as a result of the National Audit Office Act, the legr audits, developing an external audit manual and enhancing training efforts.

A timetable has been established for the extended decentralisation of Phare and ISPA implementation. Bulgaria needs to continue to strengthen the capacity of the National Fund, the CFCU accession. The Ministry of Finance should play a pro-active role in ensuring progress in this area. The strategy for transition to the Structural Funds should be implemented as soon as possible

Conclusion

In its 1997 Opin establishment of the legal basis for adequate financial co

s in this area. Bu

ng amendment of the legal frar on of the EC fin

Progress since the last Regular Report

Bulgaria has made some further progress over the reporting period, notably as regards the national budget and EC co-fir

A number of new relevant legislative measures have been introduced concerning national budget and EC co-financed measures. The most nual Budget Act, an Act on the Budget of the Health In

The start badjet planning and fenerating systems have been efformed to own them rowards pelog- and exoth-scienced badjeting in order to active advect in proceeding and exot a discovery. Final transparses has been improved by termalising badjeting in order to active advect in proceeding and exot a discovery final transparses has been improved by termalising badjeting and fere advected advecting and reducing the number of extra-budgetary accounts, tronic budgetary payments is now largely operational.

A division has been set up within the Budget and State Treasury Direct

Overall assessment

Although budgetary rules are broadly satisfactory and the Treasury is functioning well, Bulgaria should continu systems, development of the Treasu ry Single Account and introduction of new systems are all positive developm number of newspace. to bring the budgetary principles and rules into line with those standards generally applicable in the Cor rther across-the-board strengthening in these areas is needed, as well as progress on the Public Debt Mana

In the immediate future, the priorities include further development of the Treasury Single Account, the I budget classification should be developed, budget legislation should be further aligned with EC and in expenditure.

Conclusion

stem. In addition, 6 In its 1997 Opinion, the Commission concluded that, in order to ensure our own resources homogeneous and complete. The Commission added that improving the statistics would also be en , Bulgaria would have to overhaul its current custo ng Bulgaria's VAT system fully into line with the Co ng up the VAT ow

rts on the legal fr

Translation of the acquis into the national la nguages

ries are required to translate the various legal texts constituting the aquit into their national languages by the time of their accession. Primary and secondary legislation alone represents a considerable volume of texts, roughly estimated at 60 000-70 000 pages of the Official Journal. In the framework of the translation of the aquit, the Court of Jostice has defined a set of key judg out 15 000 pages). To help the candidate countries in this process, assistance is being provided under the Phare programme. With the help of TAIEX, a dedicated database has been set up to act as a repository of all translated acts and as a tool through which candidate countries forward their translations to the Commission and the Council. The legal revisers of the Commission equality and liais with representatives of the countries in the council.

2002, the Bulgarian Translation and Revision Centre (created in May 2001) moved to better premises, which have al free-lance translators, who were also selected through competitive procedures. Priorities for translation of legisl e been taken on following competit ~ 2005 is the target set for translat ted last year, the basic treaties have been translated. As at September 2002, a total of some 15 000 pages had beer nal. Efforts in this area need to be sust ained if targets are to be met.

st also be paid to the training of conference interpreters. In the au

ued to progress in terms of legal alignment and admi

al market, Bulgaria has made further prog ket surveillance. The n ew Public Procur

Concerning regional policy, Bulgaria has made progress in preparing for the imp mechanisms. Bulgaria still needs to prepare a coh erent development plan as re-

Bulgaria h alignment

Bulgaria has ce ed to make

Bulgaria has stepped up progress in re and ensure a high level of nuclear safe

In justice and home affairs, Bulgaria made good progress in aligning with the aap

ress has been made in st

Bulgaria still needs to make sustained efforts to develop sufficient administrative and judicial necessary administrative capacity t o ensure the sound and efficient management of EC funds

Conclusion

em and im ty still need to be ad

ver, there are a number of areas which continue to give cause for concern. A new issue that has been identified i

of stability and predictability. Administrative procedures affecting the enterprise sector, including ba nent which are key requirements for sustained prowth and sufficient competitiveness within the Unio

internal market, Bulgaria has made further pro I market surveillance. The n ew Public Procu capacity is still needed, notable laboratory up the survey on data on

ters. On comp

In agriadure, approximation of legislation in the veterinary and phytosanitary sectors l further measures to ensure full compliance with EC hygiene and health requirements

Concerning regional pulity, Balgaria has made progress in preparing for the implementation of structural policies with the adoption of a strategy for structural funds, which clarifies the ins mechanisms. Bulgaria still needs to prepare a coh erent development plan as required by the structural funds regulations and integrate it into the national budgetary and policy-making frame

Bulgaria ha alignment.

Bulgaria has continued to make pro

Bulgaria has stepped up progress in reforming the energy secto and ensure a high level of nuclear safety.

In instite and home affairs, Bulgaria made good re

tial progress has been made in strengthening financial control with the entry into for

still needs to make sustained efforts to develop sufficient administrative and judicial cap administrative capacity t o ensure the sound and efficient management of EC funds.

Accession Partnership and Action Plan for strengthening administrative and judicial capacity: Global assessment

is's progress and overall state of preparation in respect of the Copenhagen criteria has been examined and conclusions drawn above. The present section assesses the extent to which the priorities of the Accession Partnee years covering 2002 (0), providing for another 15 months for priorities to be met. Furthermore, much has already been achieved based on previous Accession Partnerships. The present one focuses on remaining specific to decomposing of fullhamic in each down on the formation of the priorities of the accession of t

equate administrative and judicial capacity for EU men v have been included in the Action Plans. Each of these

Bulgaria has continued to make progress with public administration reform with turther revision little change as regards on arring accountability of the public service. There has been some im provide the service of t adoption of a Strategy for Modemisation of the State Administration in July 2002. Some further steps have been taken to enter (ficite implementation of the pursions of Ciril Straite Ad and related regulations and work is progressing in line with the Action Plan but efforts in this area need to continue. There is a been somey of public arrive through the implementation of the Law on Access to Public Information. There are few developments in the apacity for strategy flowing, publy analysis and endantion at the entro of guerment and in line ministrics. There have been some good examples of annalation with efforts partic (e.g. social and

s in hand to improve the administrative apacity of ky institutions and some discussion has started to revise the days of junnerity of moders of the judicay to some the is in line with international analyst. The programme to implement the strategy on judicial reform was approved, and any in line with the Action Plan. Concerning the full dynamication of junnerity digits in part and and a digit and factors to improve this are on going butters has not yet been any significant change in parcice. Good progress has been made to start is implement the national torus of the concerns strong to impresent strong to implement the national torus of the concerns the torus on a strong torus of the concerns. The some factor is a concerning the strong torus of the concerns the torus of the concerns the torus of the concerns. The concerns the concerning the strong torus of the concerns the torus of the concerns. The concerns the concerning the strong torus of the concerns the torus of the concerns. The concerns the concerns the torus of the concerns the concern gress has been made to start to imploment the strategy for reform of the judicial system, an area identified as in need ints to the Law on the Judicial System adopted, so work to implement the Action Plan is on track. A con-weaktiv semption another area considered in need of particularly upwater action. The Bollenian Generatorement nce on judicial reform took place in Febr

m. Bulgaria needs to reinforce its efforts to ensure the full implementation of the UN Convention on the Rights of the Child. More progress is needed for these priorities to be me

Overall, the Accession Pa ion of measures in the Action Plan is largely on track orities related to the political cri ally met. The impl

Bidgatis has achieved a high degree of mars-cosmic adulty. Exterprise netrotating and promises of priorit state development has continued. In line with the Action Plan, work on and needed a higher the justicing of the capital market. As concerns the samplening of the landing unite, the langely forsign-owned backing sectors is developing of the state of the samplening of the landing unite, the langely forsign-owned backing sectors is developing of the same of testal grows are needed to further develop and start to interest of testaments and start blagets the same blagets the same of testal grows are needed to further develop and start to interest of testaments. Concerning metanimating of the and and the backet back are also and the same blagets and the same blagets that the same blaget back are historicated priored as the same proteines and lineary proteines in the same also are interesting blagging blagging and the same blaget back are historicated priored to the same blaget back are historicated priore and the same priority and the same blaget back are historicated priore and lineary priority and are blaget back are historicated priore and lineary priority and are blaget back are historicated priore and lineary priority and are blaget back are historicated priore and lineary priority and are blaget back are historicated priore and lineary priority and have blaget back are historicated priore and lineary priority in the same back are historicated priore and lineary priority priority are historicated priore and lineary priority priority are historicated priority and are historicated priore and have are priority and are historicated priority and have are historicated priority are h he non-banking *financial scotor* remains at an early stage and continued *manner* will be has started to make progress to prepare for the *reinnativing of the energy rater*. Efforts a set of with the aim of *further imposing and acaterizing humentyry and lipsilative procedors*. *Sometic and insurinf investment*, but these need to be pursued. Further work is needed to

Ability to assume the obligations of me

Chapter 1: Free movement of goods

Further progress is needed to multify the funnowsk law on holisial appinents implementing Nar and Calolad Approach principles to essanse it in line with the aquit. Work to misfine longuated administration in hus continued. Geneering aparation of standardisation and artifictation particles are sell approach principles to essanse if and antipation in practice longuated and internation and point particles are sell not adsequately from accretitations on the Action Plano Observatory from accretitation and point particles are sell approach and point particles are sell not adsequately from and the approach principles of the approxement progress of a second particle progress in the approxement progress of a second particle progress of the approxement particle and a second particle processing of the approxement progress of a second particle progress of the approxement particle and a second particle partited particle partited particle particle particle

Chapter 2: Free movement of persons

Bulgaria has continued to pursue alignment of mutual recognition of professional qualifications and diplomas and to introduce Implementation of the measure under the Action Plan is largely on track.

Chapter 3: Freedom to provide services

Concerning eniptrome of aperiods of family and aresis, a Consultative Consult for Entrancial Accord Supervision was set up. The banking approximation in the consultative eniptrometry approximation of the accord material and areasis, a Consultative eniptrometry approximation of the accord material and areasis, a Consultative entrancial and areasis approximation of the Areasis and areasis and areasis approximation of the Areasis and Chapter 4: Free movement of capital

Further steps to process as of junuial gates for many landering have been taken through the new law on measures against money handering. Changes have been made to transform the Barnar of Financial Intelligues into an Agency but it has yet to be seen whether this strangelow sufficiently is again to dual with many landering. Instru-algunest of legitation with the Sound Diracite against mong landering and to exam amplementation of the Financial Articlican Take Finance Overall, Accession Pannership priorities in the area of free movement of capital have been parially met. Implementation of the measures under the Action Plan appears to be on track.

Chapter 5: Company law

Further steps have been taken to appear assuming and analing analoted and practice, and is plotted agine frequences proceeding backet common a planetary and is appear backet back to appear backet back to appear backet back to appear backet back to appear plant, further assuming and analized and practice and the steps back back to appear backet backet

Chapter 6: Competition policy

Further steps have been taken to supplie the legidative framework in both ands brat and state aid concerning strengthening of administrative capacity, the Commission for the Protection of Competition (CPC) has continued to build up its enforcement record in anti-trust but this is still at an early stage for state aid control so further work is needed to state aid anti-trust aid state aid relates to build up its enforcement quarks that aid in the anti-trust but this is still at an early stage for state aid control so further work is needed to result that aid relates to human annement of anti-trust but this is still at an early stage for state aid control so further work is needed to result that aid relates to human annement of anti-trust aid state aid relates and state aid relates to human annement of anti-human aid state aid relates and state aid relates and trust aid relates and state aid relates and states aid state aid relates and states aid state aid relates and state aid

Chapter 7: Agriculture

Balgeria has taken some some to proper tie derivitation in some some to proper tie derivitation in some some to proper tie derivitation in the some some to proper tie derivitation in the source of t

Chapter 8: Fisheries

Further progress has been made to *complete the cutalisation of a grantication, adopant initiational roomers and approver tables and and at a courd and regional lend.* The staff of the National Agency for Fisheness and Aquaculture (NAFA), established in the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most initiational roomers and approver tables and regional lend. The staff of the National Agency for Fisheness and Aquaculture (NAFA), established in the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most initiational roomers and approver tables are needed to estaff and regional lend. The staff of the National Agency for Fisheness and Aquaculture (NAFA), established in the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most initiational roomers and approver tables are needed to estaff and regional lend. The staff of the National Agency for Fisheness and Aquaculture (NAFA), established in the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most initiational roomers and approver tables are needed to estaff and regional lend. The staff of the National Agency for Fisheness and Aquaculture (NAFA), established in the Ministry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most initiation are an approver tables are applied with the Craption Barry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most are applied with the Craption Barry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most are applied with the Craption Barry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most are applied with the Craption Barry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most are applied with the Craption Barry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most are applied with the Craption Barry of Agriculture and Forestry, has been increased to 156. The fullog most are applied with the Craption Barry of Chapter 9: Transport policy

Bilgaria has continued to make progress in log digenerin in the nad ransport sector. Further steps to inigine administrative apacity in the nad and index partures, active are needed. Progress has been made on vehicle stratutes and on read user during Efforts to improve the screening of entry to the profession are needed. Further steps to inigine administrative apacity in the nad and index partures, and the progress has been made to active day digent and index partures. The mater stratutes of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras. The mater stratutes of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras. The mater stratutes are required to progress in the adoption of infrastructure management from all transport spectras. The ladgetion allow spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras. The ladgetion allow spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implementation of the implementation of the implementation of infrastructure management from all transport spectras of the implem Chapter 10: Taxation

Bulgaria has continued alignment of VAT legislation but further alignments are still needed in particular on point dolores. Further alignments have been made on legislation on ensure to Applied tates, but further increases will be needed to reach the minimum levels required by the aquity. A review of legislation to transver stull particular on grant and is applied tates, but further increases will be needed to reach the minimum levels required by the aquity. A review of legislation to ensure compliance with the Code of Conduct for Basinus Tractators is in progress. Little progress has been made to neithing and import tac administrative a-speciation and matual autistance. Little has been done to develop IT systems so as to allow for the exchange of electronic data with Member States. Bubling has been done to legislation to a special matual matual autistance. Little has been done to develop IT systems so as to allow for the exchange of electronic data with member States. Bubling has been done to develop IT systems so as to allow for the exchange of electronic data with member States. Bubling has been done to develop IT systems so as to allow for the exchange of electronic data with member States. Bubling and Member States States and funds y systems so as to allow for the exchange of electronic data with member States. Bubling and Member States States and the Activity Basin State States and the advectore tack.

Chapter 12: Statistics

Chapter 13: Employment and social policy

sequir in the sizes of bashh and safety at work. Work on alignment of legislative framework for the acquir or public health has continued and a national ade to support social partners' capacity-building efforts through the adoption of the Employment Protection Act. In line with the Action Plan, a National port of the measure used the Action Plan is larged, on track. Alignment of the social acquis has continued but with little pro prog ramme for the restriction of smoking been adopted. I Institute for Conciliation and an Economic and Social Co strategy, including data collection, with a view to future p of an information system for surveillance and control of communic eeded to prepare for the social partners' future role in the elaborat

Chapter 14: Energy

Radjects has solved a one energy straing. However, which this identified gaps in mergy diffuse, it does not yet define an active polymer model of the strain of the strai date down dejiniterly Unit 1 and 2 of the Keepduty Nandaar Pouer Plante hefere the year 2003. A doe sison on choure of Units 3 and 4, due to mmendations: clarifying the kgal status of the safety analysis, implementing the new Law on the Safe Use of Nac later Energy as not a Nuclear Regulatory Agnery. Secondary regulations will note to be developed and anteriored for full implementation of the oil stocks is no longer a state secret. The Action Plan detailine for adoption of the law by July 2000 was not met. It is important of stocks is no longer a state secret. The Action Plan detailine for adoption of the law by July 2000 was not met. It is important

Chapter 15: Industrial policy

Chapter 19: Telecommunications and information technologies

Through amendments to the telecommunications law, further progress has been made towards completing the *transpations of the aspir and to ararr independence of the regulatory bulks* from operational a services need to be strengthened. The Accession Pannership priority in the area of telecommunications has been partially met. Implementation of the measures under the Action Plan is largely on track

Chapter 20: Culture and audio-visual policy

Further progress has been made towards stronghoing the administrative capacity of the national regulatory body in the field of broadcasting, however Access sion Partnership priority has been partly met. Progress towards implementation of the Action Plan priorities is largely on track. will need to be paid to this. To meet the Action Plan

Chapter 21: Regional policy and co-ordination of structural insta

Considerable further efforts are still needed to bring administrativ apacity up to the level required in kry ministration, particularly at the control larel, to doign strategies and to implement and evaluate projects for regulard bring for agained by EC and statunal fund. As mentioned in the Action Plane, a strategy paper to chairly institutional arrangements for managing structural and contexing for agained by EC and statunal and contexing for agained by EC and statunal fund. As mentioned in the Action Plane, a strategy paper to chairly institution, matering and evaluate projects for again again structure and contexing for again and the structure again agai

Chapter 22: Environm

Belgeria has made progress to outine transposition of the acquir but the delay in the adoption of the Environmental Protection Act slowed progress on environmental inpact accument and integrated industrial polition provision and outer 1. Further efforts are needed to continue transposition of the acquir with particular emphasis and integrated industrial polition provision and outer 1. Further efforts are needed to continue transposition of the acquir with particular emphasis and integrated industrial politication, mainting and approximate and analy in a start and analy in a start and analy in a start and and analy in a start and analy in the acquire transposition of the acquire with particular emphasis and analy integrate accument, and particular explained in the acquire transposition of the acquire with particular emphasis and analy integrate accument, and particular emphasis and analy integrate accument, and particular emphasis and analy integrate accument explained in the acquire active active accument emphasis and analy integrate accument explained in the acquire accument explained in the accument explained in the accument emphasis and analy integrate accument explained in the accument expla

Chapter 23: Consumers and health protection

Little fu Chapter 24: Co-operation in the fields of justice and home affairs

Belgerin has submitted a Schuper Artika Flate Verdere stept have been taken to appeale and metrica infrastructure of the faster LFI course line ordinense appeared and with de judiciae particular to artigrate appeared in the step and the concelston appeared and appeare is not been met. Bulgaria has denipola automal degrating and over needs to strangible of automatica data and appeare the strategy on combinition opposited entry, implementation of the measures under the Action Plan in langely on track. al londer but major efforts ze vill needed to complete this. A ove hav on asylum has been adopted to adara il interview capacity neede to be strengthened and sovarces provided to start il proprimphantation. Limited progress has been made to impose the interview capacity neede to be strengthened and strengt for high adara il strengt to the follo adara interview capacity neede to be strengthened and strengt for high adara interview capacity neede to be strengthened and strengt for high adara interview capacity and adara interview capacity neede to be strengthened and strengt for strengt agard strengt in the Action Plan of adaption by ead MAN 2022 has a strengt to conduct capacity and the strengt following by the strengt of the adara interview capacity in the strengt of the adara interview capacity in the strengt of the adara interview capacity in the strengt of the adara interview capacity inter

Chapter 25: Customs Union

Concerning information of the Bulgetin cations and in implementing provides, some progress has been made but more is needed. A major reform strategy has commenced to support work to guarante the adulty and incorport adopting provides, some progress has been made but more is needed. A major reform strategy has commenced to support work to guarante the adulty and incorport adopting interview. The adult is in opera Egislation and improve a-proteine aid interview a-proteine aid interview a-proteine aid interview. The advantant of the advantantion of the measures under the Action Plan, a Cantom Concellative Council has been cational and active and provides and interview. As mentioned in the Action Plan, a Cantom Concellative Council has been cational and proteines in the action Plan, a Cantom Concellative Council has been cational and active of the Bulgetina cations administration is ongoing but has falls behind schedule. Work on implementation of the measures under the Action Plan, a Cantom Plan, a Cantom Concellative Council has been cational and council and the state of cations plane administration is ongoing but has falls behind schedule. Work on implementation of the measures under the Action Plan is now also covered in the National Anti-Comption Strategy. Overall, Accession Parmenhip priorities is the state of eastors have only been partially met. Implementation of the measures under the Action Plan.

Chapter 28: Financial control

28: Financial al progress has been made to amend o work on the priority of setting the fra to areagher the apacity HC Agreey and to being or ante funccial counted under the responsibility of the speeding centre's manager. Further progress has been made to implement the raw lighting function function of a standard better integrated to functional independence of the relation of the specific progress has been made in the standard better integrated to functional independence of the relation of the specific progress has been made in the standard better integrated to functional independence of the relation of the specific progress has been made in the standard better integrated to functional independence of the relation of the specific progress has been made in the specific progress has been

												A	nnex	es					
Adherence to following conventions	BG	CY	cz	EE	HU	LV	LT	MT	PL	RO	SK	SI	ТК	X = Convention ratified					
and protocols														O = Convention NOT ratified					
														BG=Bulgaria; CY=Cyprus; CZ=Czech Republic; EE=Estonia; HU=Hungary; LV=Latvia; LT=Lithua	ania; MT=Malta; PL-	=Poland; RO=Roma	nia; SK= Slovak Re	public; SV=Sloveni	a; T=Turkey
ECHR (European Convention on Human	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X		1997	1998	1999	2000	2001
Rights)														Basic data			in 1000		
g		<u> </u>		<u> </u>										Population (average)	8,312	8,257	8,211	8,170	7,915
Protocol 1 (right of property)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X				in km²		
			N 7					37						Total area	110,975	110,975	110,910	110,910	110,910
Protocol 4 (freedom movement et al.)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	0						
movement et al.)														National accounts	17.433		o New Lev a) 23,790	26.753	00.040
Protocol 6 (death penalty)	X	x	X	x	X	x	x	x	x	X	X	x	0	Gross domestic product at current prices	17,433	22,421	23,790 Mio ECU/eu		29,618
		<u> </u>		<u> </u>									<u> </u>	Gross domestic product at current prices	9.2				15.2
Protocol 7 (ne bis in idem)	X	X	X	X	X	X	X	0	0	X	X	X	0	Gross domestic product at current prices	5.2	11.4	ECU/euro	13.7	13.2
European Convention for	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	Gross domestic product per capita b) at current prices	1,100	1,400	1,500	1,700	1,900
the Prevention of Torture															% change over the previous year				
														Gross domestic product at constant prices (nat. currency)	-5.6	4.0	2.3	5.4	4.0
European Social Charter	0	X	X	0	X	X	0	X	X	0	X	0	X	Employment growth	-3.9	-0.2	-2.1	-4.7	:
Revised European Social	x	x	0	x	0	0	x	0	0	x	0	x	0	Labour productivity growth	-1.8	4.2	4.4	10.6	:
Charter	1	1	ľ	1			^		ľ	-		^				in Purchas	ing Power St	tandards	
							<u> </u>							Gross domestic product per capita b) at current prices	5,400	5,700	6,000	6,000	6,500
Framework Convention for	X	X	X	X	X	0	X	X	X	X	X	X	0						
National Minorities														Structure of production			ross Value A		
ICCPR (International	v	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	x	0	- Agriculture	26.6	20.2	16.2	13.8	:
Covenant on Civil and	A	^	A	A .	A	A	A	A	A	A	A	A		- Industry (excluding construction)	25.4	23.9	21.6 3.5	23.0	:
Political Rights)														- Construction - Services	45.2	52.4	3.5 58.7	3.5 59.8	
														- Services	45.2	52.4	58.7	59.8	
	X	x	x	x	X	X	x	x	X	X	X	x	0	Structure of expenditure		as % of Gro	oss Domestic	Product	
															, in the second se		1		

Optional Protocol to the Final consumption expendence 85.5 82.9 87.9 87.1 87.2 Mo - M - M 69.2 17.9 69.6 17.6 17.8 ICCPR (right of individual - household and NPISH 73.0 67.6 71.3 communication) 12.6 15.3 16.6 general gove 11.0 13.0 15.1 15.7 Gross fixed capital for - M 0 х х х 0 Second Optional Protocol to X X 0 0 x 0 x х 3.1 47.1 0.4 Stock variation d) 0.6 ICCPR (death penalty) Tot 55.7 58.3 44.6 55.7 - Exports of goods and service 63.2 X 53.7 46.8 50.3 61.1 ICESCR (International x x x x х x x x x X х 0 - Imports of goods and services Covenant on Economic, Inflation rate % change o er the previ us year Social and Cultural - D Consumer price index 18.7 2.6 10.3 7.4 rights) Balance of payments In Mio ECU/eu (Convention X х х х х х х х х х х х x CAT -Current accou 922.6 -940 g -54.8 -642.3 -759.6 against Torture) Trade bala 283.1 339.6 1,272.7 4,240.6 3,740.6 3,759.1 5,223.6 Exports of goods х х х х х х х х х х х 0 CERD (Convention on х Re: -Re Imports of goods 3,957.5 4,080.1 4,773.4 6,496.4 the Elimination of All 745.4 295.8 -205.0 -Net services 332.4 547.3 -Re Forms of Racial 347.8 252.9 Net income Discrimination) 313.6 59.4 Net current transfers 208.8 205.2 281.2 Ext Tra Ext of which: government transfers 113.6 52.8 63.5 x x х CEDAW (Convention on х х х Х х X х х Х х . 775 g 1,084.3 - FDI (net) inflows 445.1 479.3 756.3 the Elimination of All Imp Forms of in % of Gross Domestic Product Public finance Discrimination against General government deficit/surplus -0.3 1.3 0.2 -0.6 1.7p Те Women) eneral government debt 79.6 79.3 73.6 66.3p 0 0 0 0 Optional Protocol to the 0 х х 0 x 0 0 x 0 Financial indicators in % of Gross Domestic Product CEDAW Gross foreign debt of the who 102.7 74.6 81.2 77.4 Imp of exports 183.8 De Na Ne х х х х х х х х х х х х X Gross foreign debt of the whole economy e) CRC (Convention on the 165.9 165.0 132.0 Rights of the Child)

ed on the LFS. The most im

Methodological Notes

As part of the preparations for the common currency the EU Menter States (MS) have designed a new *namor pite infection* comply with the obligations of the EU Teary. The aim was to produce CPIs comparable between Member States. The main task was to harmonise methodologies and coverage. The result was the Harmonised Index of Container Prices (IHCP). A similar exercise has been stanted with Candid Countries (CC). In repect to enlipse the index of container prices (IHCP) with the obligations of the EU Teary. The aim was to produce CPIs comparable between Member States. The main task was to harmonise methodologies and coverage. The result was the Harmonised Index of Container Prices (IHCP) As similar exercise has been stanted with Candid Countries (CC). In repect to enlipse the table of the table of the table of the table of the HCP overage. They are not yet fully compliant with the HCP of the MSs. In the tait the proxy IHCP was the characterized to 10% (see from 1707).

erns the conscripted forces. which are not included in the LFS. but are included in ESA under general go

of ESA95. General g

- A

Infa Life Ma Fei

Lor

Infrastructure		in km per 1000 km²						
Railway network	38.7	38.7	38.7	38.9	38.9			
			in km					
Length of motorways	314	319	324	324	328			
Industry and agriculture		pre	vious year=100					
Industrial production volume indices	81.7	91.5	90.3	110.3	97.6p			
Gross agricultural production volume indices	112.4	98.5	102.7	90.9	99.7p			
Standard of living		per	1000 inhabitants					
Number of cars	208.9	219.1	232.4	243.9	262.3			
Main telephone lines	323.7	335.1	345.9	353.6	368.5			
Number of subscriptions to cellular mobile services	4.5	15.9	40.1	90.6	:			
Number of Internet subscriptions h)	:	0.1	0.4	0.7	17.0			

p=provisional figures te that Bulgaria has rebased their currency in July 1999. dividing it by 1000. The curency is now called "New Bulgarian Lev

d) These figures include changes in inventories, acquisitions less disposals of valuables and the statistical discrepancy between the GDP and its expenditure compr

o M2 a

Inputs and coports (armst prine). The data is based upon the special trade system according to which external trade comprises goods crossing the customs border of the country. Trade data excludes direct re-exports and trade in services and trade with customs free zones as well as i insurance: etc.). The term FOB means that all costs incurred in the course of transport up to the customs frontier are charged to the seller. The term CIF means that the purchaser pays the additional costs. Exports are recorded here on FOB basis. Imports are recorded on CIF basis.

ative Docum ent (SAD).

Not migration rate. Crude rate of net migration (recalculated by EUROSTAT) for year X. is: population (X)-1) - population (X) - Deaths (X) + Births (X). This assumes that any change in population not attributable to births and deaths is attributable to registers). Figures are in this c ase more consistent. Further most of the difference between the Crude rate of net migration provided by a country and the one calculated by Eurostat is caused by an under reporting or delay in reporting of migration.

Exchange rates: ECU exchange rates are those that were officially notified until 1 January 1999, when the ECU was replaced by the euro. Euro exchange rates are reference rates of the European Central Bank. The effective exchange rate index (nominal) as reported to Eurostat, is weighted by major trading partner

c) Including FISIM

Finance

External trade

Demography

Life expecta

Labour force

e) series break after 1997.

Monetary aggregates are end-year stock data. as reponon-MFI residents.

Imports and exports with EU-15. Data declared by Bulgaria

g) Source: Website of the National Bank

b) Figures have been calculated using the population figures from National Accounts. which may differ from those used in demographic statistic

h) Since 2001. a survey on internet services providers is carried out. Up to 2001. only data from the main operator are covered i) Rates are based on National accounts data (ESA) and therefore not entirely comparable to those of other Candidate Countries. wh

f) Data from the national LFS for the period 1997-2000. Other indicators derived from the Community LFS

Public finance: The government deficit and debt statistics of the Candidate Countries are provisional. in the sense that they do not yet fully comply with EU method debt at end-year nominal value. The series a re available from 1997; the 1996 data are an approximation derived from the IMF's GFS methodology.

Interest rates: Annual average rates based on monthly series reported to Eurostat. Lending rates refer to bank lending to enterprises for over 1 year. Deposit rates refer to bank de

nclature (CN) and the Single Admir

Gross foreign debt is of the whole economy, covering both short- and long-term, but excluding equity invest on joint OECD/IMF/BIS/World Bank series.

stock data as reported to Eurostat. They are

Trade Classifications. Merchandise trade flows are recorded according to Combined Nom

w Data are compiled on the basis of a survey carried out with the

The European Labour Force Survey is conc central and east European definitions 2000' with Council Re tion (EEC) No. 577/98 of 9 March 1998. A de All definitions apply to persons aged 15 years and over living in private households. The concepts and definitions used in the survey follow the guidelines of the Int onal Labour Or

Parsus in employment were those who during the reference week did any work for pay or profit for at least one hour or were not working but had jobs from which they were temporarily absent. Family workers are included.

The rates on **average employment by NACE branches** are based on National accounts data (ESA) and therefore not methodology. ch are based on the LFS. Th ils see chapter 11. paragraph 19 of the ESA

As from 2001 (Commission Regulation (EC) No 1897/2000 of 7 September 2000) unemployed persons comprise persons aged 15 to 74 who were: (a) without work during the reference week. i.e. neither had a job nor were at work (for one hour or more) in paid employment or self-employment;

(b) currently available for work. i.e. were available for paid employment or self-employment before the end of the two weeks following the reference week;

(c) actively seeking work. i.e. had taken specific steps in the four weeks period ending with the reference week to seek paid employ

Comparability with results prior to 2001: une Duration of unemployment is defined as: nployment results used to refer to persons aged 15 and more. Persons who found a job to start later used to be co idered as ur

(a) the duration of search for a job. or

(b) the length of the period since the last job was held (if this period is shorter than the duration of search for a job). The active population is defined as the sum of persons in employment and unemployed persons.

Inactive persons are those who are not classified as persons in employment nor as unemployed persons Employment nates represent employed persons aged 15-64 as a percentage of the same age population

Unsployment rates represent unemployed persons as a percentage of the active population aged 15 years and more Economic adinity rates represent the active population aged 15-64 as a percentage of the population of the same age

Data refer to June of each year.

Infrastructure

Railory network. All railways in a given area. This does not include stretches of road or water even if rolling stock should be conveyed over such routes; e.g. by wagon-carrying trailers or ferries. Lines solely used for tourist purp considers the construction length of railways. are not open to public traffic. The data

Length of motorway. Road. specially designed and built for motor traffic. which does not serve properties bordering on it. and which

(a) is provided, except at special points or temporarily, with separate carriageways for the two directions of traffic, separated from each other, either by a dividing strip not intended for traffic, or exce (b) does not cross at level with any road, railway or tramway track, or footpath; ally by othe

(c) is specially sign-posted as a motorway and is reserved for specific categories of road m

Entry and exit lanes of motorways are included irrespectively of the location of the signposts. Urban motorways are also included.

Industry and agriculture.

Industrial production release indices. Industrial production covers mining and quarrying, manufacturing and electricity, gas, steam and water supply (according to the NACE Rev.1 Classification Sections C.D.E).

The index of annual industrial production is based on the exhaustive survey of enterprises (public and private) assigned to industrial sector

Gross agricultural production volume indices. Data are based on SNA methodology and include agriculture and forestry (NACE sections A and B).

Standard of living

Number of arrs. Passenger car. road motor vehicle, other than a motor cycle, intended for the carriage of passengers and designed to seat no more than nine persons (including the driver).

The term "passenger car" therefore covers microcars (need no permit to be driven). taxis and hired passenger cars. provided that they have less than ten seats. This category may also include pick-ups

Internet subscriptions: Data are provided by Bulgarian Telecommunication Company.

Sources

Total area, external trade, labour market: infrastructure, demography: industry and agriculture, standard of living (except Internet connections): National sour National accounts: inflation rate: balance of payment: public finance: Funote: Funoteat